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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
------------------------------------------------------------------------x 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,         : 
        : 
     Plaintiff,                     : 20 Civ. 10832 (AT) (SN) 
         : 
   - against -                                           : ECF Case 
        : 
RIPPLE LABS, INC., BRADLEY GARLINGHOUSE, :  
and CHRISTIAN A. LARSEN,    :  
        :  
     Defendants.  :  
                   : 
------------------------------------------------------------------------x 
 

 
DECLARATION OF LADAN F. STEWART  

 
 I, Ladan F. Stewart, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, declare as follows:   

1. I am a member of the Bar of the State of New York. 

2. I am employed as Senior Trial Counsel in the New York Regional Office of Plaintiff 

Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).  I submit this declaration in support of the 

SEC’s Objections to Orders Compelling the SEC to Produce Privileged Internal Communications. 

3. Attached as Exhibit 1 is a true and correct copy of a speech by William Hinman, 

then-Director of the SEC’s Division of Corporation Finance, entitled “Digital Asset Transactions: 

When Howey Met Gary (Plastic),” delivered at the Yahoo Finance All Markets Summit: Crypto, 

dated June 14, 2018, available at https://www.sec.gov/news/speech/speech-hinman-061418.  

4. Attached as Exhibit 2 is a true and correct copy of excerpts of the deposition 

transcript of William Hinman, dated July 27, 2021. 

5. Attached as Exhibit 3 is a true and correct copy of: (1) a speech entitled “Remarks 

of Commissioner Dawn D. Stump: We Can Do Hard Things (As Prepared for Delivery at the 

Chamber of Digital Commerce),” dated January 13, 2022, available at 

https://www.cftc.gov/PressRoom/SpeechesTestimony/opastump11 (“I want to provide the 
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standard disclaimer that the views I express today are my own and not necessarily those of the 

Commission I am proud to serve upon.”); (2) a speech entitled “NTIA Listening Session on Privacy, 

Equity, and Civil Rights: Keynote Address of Commissioner Rebecca Kelly Slaughter As Prepared 

for Delivery,” dated December 14, 2021, available at 

https://www.ftc.gov/system/files/documents/public_statements/1599831/slaughter-ntia-

keynote.pdf (“The views expressed in these remarks are my own and do not necessarily reflect the 

views of the Federal Trade Commission or any other commissioner.”); and (3) a speech entitled 

“Empowering Community Banks (At the Conference for Community Bankers sponsored by The 

American Bankers Association, Orlando, Florida),” by Governor Michelle W. Bowman, dated 

February 10, 2020, available at 

https://www.federalreserve.gov/newsevents/speech/bowman20200210a.htm (“Let me begin by 

stating that the views I express today are my own, and not necessarily those of the Federal 

Reserve.”).  

6. Attached as Exhibit 4 is a true and correct copy of a publication entitled “SEC 

Director of Corporation Finance States That Secondary Market Sales of Ether Are Not Securities 

Transactions Now, but ‘Something Else,’” dated June 18, 2018, by Michael H. Krimminger and 

Matthew C. Solomon, available at https://www.clearygottlieb.com/news-and-insights/publication-

listing/sec-director-of-corporation-finance-states-that-secondary-market-sales-of-ether.  

7. Attached as Exhibit 5 is a true and correct copy of the transcript of an April 5, 2021 

court conference before Magistrate Judge Netburn. 

8. Attached as Exhibit 6 is a true and correct copy of the transcript of a July 15, 2021 

court conference before Magistrate Judge Netburn. 

9. Attached as Exhibit 7 is a true and correct copy of a letter from Ladan F. Stewart, 

dated June 21, 2021, to counsel for Defendants. 
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I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 

Executed on July 26, 2022 
New York, New York 
       
 

__/s Ladan F. Stewart __________ 

      Ladan F. Stewart 

Case 1:20-cv-10832-AT-SN   Document 576   Filed 07/27/22   Page 3 of 3



 
 
 

EXHIBIT 1 

Case 1:20-cv-10832-AT-SN   Document 576-1   Filed 07/27/22   Page 1 of 7



2/16/22, 8:29 PM SEC.gov | Digital Asset Transactions: When Howey Met Gary (Plastic)

https://www.sec.gov/news/speech/speech-hinman-061418 1/6

Digital Asset Transactions: When Howey Met

Gary (Plastic)

San Francisco, CA

June 14, 2018

Remarks at the Yahoo Finance All Markets Summit: Crypto

Thank you Andy. I am pleased to be here today.[1] This event provides a great opportunity to address a topic that
is the subject of considerable debate in the press and in the crypto-community – whether a digital asset offered as
a security can, over time, become something other than a security.[2]

To start, we should frame the question differently and focus not on the digital asset itself, but on the circumstances
surrounding the digital asset and the manner in which it is sold. To that end, a better line of inquiry is: “Can a digital
asset that was originally offered in a securities offering ever be later sold in a manner that does not constitute an
offering of a security?” In cases where the digital asset represents a set of rights that gives the holder a financial
interest in an enterprise, the answer is likely “no.” In these cases, calling the transaction an initial coin offering, or
“ICO,” or a sale of a “token,” will not take it out of the purview of the U.S. securities laws.

But what about cases where there is no longer any central enterprise being invested in or where the digital asset is
sold only to be used to purchase a good or service available through the network on which it was created? I
believe in these cases the answer is a qualified “yes.” I would like to share my thinking with you today about the
circumstances under which that could occur.

Before I turn to the securities law analysis, let me share what I believe may be most exciting about distributed
ledger technology – that is, the potential to share information, transfer value, and record transactions in a
decentralized digital environment. Potential applications include supply chain management, intellectual property
rights licensing, stock ownership transfers and countless others. There is real value in creating applications that
can be accessed and executed electronically with a public, immutable record and without the need for a trusted
third party to verify transactions. Some people believe that this technology will transform e-commerce as we know
it. There is excitement and a great deal of speculative interest around this new technology. Unfortunately, there
also are cases of fraud. In many regards, it is still “early days.”

But I am not here to discuss the promise of technology – there are many in attendance and speaking here today
that can do a much better job of that. I would like to focus on the application of the federal securities laws to digital
asset transactions – that is how tokens and coins are being issued, distributed and sold. While perhaps a bit dryer

William Hinman 
Director, Division of Corporation Finance

Speech
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than the promise of the blockchain, this topic is critical to the broader acceptance and use of these novel
instruments.

I will begin by describing what I often see. Promoters,[3] in order to raise money to develop networks on which
digital assets will operate, often sell the tokens or coins rather than sell shares, issue notes or obtain bank
financing. But, in many cases, the economic substance is the same as a conventional securities offering. Funds
are raised with the expectation that the promoters will build their system and investors can earn a return on the
instrument – usually by selling their tokens in the secondary market once the promoters create something of value
with the proceeds and the value of the digital enterprise increases.

When we see that kind of economic transaction, it is easy to apply the Supreme Court’s “investment contract” test
first announced in SEC v. Howey.[4] That test requires an investment of money in a common enterprise with an
expectation of profit derived from the efforts of others. And it is important to reflect on the facts of Howey. A hotel
operator sold interests in a citrus grove to its guests and claimed it was selling real estate, not securities. While the
transaction was recorded as a real estate sale, it also included a service contract to cultivate and harvest the
oranges. The purchasers could have arranged to service the grove themselves but, in fact, most were passive,
relying on the efforts of Howey-in-the-Hills Service, Inc. for a return. In articulating the test for an investment
contract, the Supreme Court stressed: “Form [is] disregarded for substance and the emphasis [is] placed upon
economic reality.”[5] So the purported real estate purchase was found to be an investment contract – an
investment in orange groves was in these circumstances an investment in a security.

Just as in the Howey case, tokens and coins are often touted as assets that have a use in their own right, coupled
with a promise that the assets will be cultivated in a way that will cause them to grow in value, to be sold later at a
profit. And, as in Howey – where interests in the groves were sold to hotel guests, not farmers – tokens and coins
typically are sold to a wide audience rather than to persons who are likely to use them on the network.

In the ICOs I have seen, overwhelmingly, promoters tout their ability to create an innovative application of
blockchain technology. Like in Howey, the investors are passive. Marketing efforts are rarely narrowly targeted to
token users. And typically at the outset, the business model and very viability of the application is still uncertain.
The purchaser usually has no choice but to rely on the efforts of the promoter to build the network and make the
enterprise a success. At that stage, the purchase of a token looks a lot like a bet on the success of the enterprise
and not the purchase of something used to exchange for goods or services on the network.

As an aside, you might ask, given that these token sales often look like securities offerings, why are the promoters
choosing to package the investment as a coin or token offering? This is an especially good question if the network
on which the token or coin will function is not yet operational. I think there can be a number of reasons. For a
while, some believed such labeling might, by itself, remove the transaction from the securities laws. I think people
now realize labeling an investment opportunity as a coin or token does not achieve that result. Second, this
labeling might have been used to bring some marketing “sizzle” to the enterprise. That might still work to some
extent, but the track record of ICOs is still being sorted out and some of that sizzle may now be more of a potential
warning flare for investors.

Some may be attracted to a blockchain-mediated crowdfunding process. Digital assets can represent an efficient
way to reach a global audience where initial purchasers have a stake in the success of the network and become
part of a network where their participation adds value beyond their investment contributions. The digital assets are
then exchanged – for some, to help find the market price for the new application; for others, to speculate on the
venture. As I will discuss, whether a transaction in a coin or token on the secondary market amounts to an offer or
sale of a security requires a careful and fact-sensitive legal analysis.

I believe some industry participants are beginning to realize that, in some circumstances, it might be easier to start
a blockchain-based enterprise in a more conventional way. In other words, conduct the initial funding through a
registered or exempt equity or debt offering and, once the network is up and running, distribute or offer blockchain-
based tokens or coins to participants who need the functionality the network and the digital assets offer. This
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allows the tokens or coins to be structured and offered in a way where it is evident that purchasers are not making
an investment in the development of the enterprise.

Returning to the ICOs I am seeing, strictly speaking, the token – or coin or whatever the digital information packet
is called – all by itself is not a security, just as the orange groves in Howey were not. Central to determining
whether a security is being sold is how it is being sold and the reasonable expectations of purchasers. When
someone buys a housing unit to live in, it is probably not a security.[6] But under certain circumstances, the same
asset can be offered and sold in a way that causes investors to have a reasonable expectation of profits based on
the efforts of others. For example, if the housing unit is offered with a management contract or other services, it
can be a security.[7] Similarly, when a CD, exempt from being treated as a security under Section 3 of the
Securities Act, is sold as a part of a program organized by a broker who offers retail investors promises of liquidity
and the potential to profit from changes in interest rates, the Gary Plastic case teaches us that the instrument can
be part of an investment contract that is a security.[8]

The same reasoning applies to digital assets. The digital asset itself is simply code. But the way it is sold – as part
of an investment; to non-users; by promoters to develop the enterprise – can be, and, in that context, most often is,
a security – because it evidences an investment contract. And regulating these transactions as securities
transactions makes sense. The impetus of the Securities Act is to remove the information asymmetry between
promoters and investors. In a public distribution, the Securities Act prescribes the information investors need to
make an informed investment decision, and the promoter is liable for material misstatements in the offering
materials. These are important safeguards, and they are appropriate for most ICOs. The disclosures required
under the federal securities laws nicely complement the Howey investment contract element about the efforts of
others. As an investor, the success of the enterprise – and the ability to realize a profit on the investment – turns on
the efforts of the third party. So learning material information about the third party – its background, financing,
plans, financial stake and so forth – is a prerequisite to making an informed investment decision. Without a
regulatory framework that promotes disclosure of what the third party alone knows of these topics and the risks
associated with the venture, investors will be uninformed and are at risk.

But this also points the way to when a digital asset transaction may no longer represent a security offering. If the
network on which the token or coin is to function is sufficiently decentralized – where purchasers would no longer
reasonably expect a person or group to carry out essential managerial or entrepreneurial efforts – the assets may
not represent an investment contract. Moreover, when the efforts of the third party are no longer a key factor for
determining the enterprise’s success, material information asymmetries recede. As a network becomes truly
decentralized, the ability to identify an issuer or promoter to make the requisite disclosures becomes difficult, and
less meaningful.

And so, when I look at Bitcoin today, I do not see a central third party whose efforts are a key determining factor in
the enterprise. The network on which Bitcoin functions is operational and appears to have been decentralized for
some time, perhaps from inception. Applying the disclosure regime of the federal securities laws to the offer and
resale of Bitcoin would seem to add little value.[9] And putting aside the fundraising that accompanied the creation
of Ether, based on my understanding of the present state of Ether, the Ethereum network and its decentralized
structure, current offers and sales of Ether are not securities transactions. And, as with Bitcoin, applying the
disclosure regime of the federal securities laws to current transactions in Ether would seem to add little value. Over
time, there may be other sufficiently decentralized networks and systems where regulating the tokens or coins that
function on them as securities may not be required. And of course there will continue to be systems that rely on
central actors whose efforts are a key to the success of the enterprise. In those cases, application of the securities
laws protects the investors who purchase the tokens or coins.

I would like to emphasize that the analysis of whether something is a security is not static and does not strictly
inhere to the instrument.[10] Even digital assets with utility that function solely as a means of exchange in a
decentralized network could be packaged and sold as an investment strategy that can be a security. If a promoter
were to place Bitcoin in a fund or trust and sell interests, it would create a new security. Similarly, investment
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contracts can be made out of virtually any asset (including virtual assets), provided the investor is reasonably
expecting profits from the promoter’s efforts.

Let me emphasize an earlier point: simply labeling a digital asset a “utility token” does not turn the asset into
something that is not a security.[11] I recognize that the Supreme Court has acknowledged that if someone is
purchasing an asset for consumption only, it is likely not a security.[12] But, the economic substance of the
transaction always determines the legal analysis, not the labels.[13] The oranges in Howey had utility. Or in my
favorite example, the Commission warned in the late 1960s about investment contracts sold in the form of whisky
warehouse receipts.[14] Promoters sold the receipts to U.S. investors to finance the aging and blending processes
of Scotch whisky. The whisky was real – and, for some, had exquisite utility. But Howey was not selling oranges
and the warehouse receipts promoters were not selling whisky for consumption. They were selling investments,
and the purchasers were expecting a return from the promoters’ efforts.

Promoters and other market participants need to understand whether transactions in a particular digital asset
involve the sale of a security. We are happy to help promoters and their counsel work through these issues. We
stand prepared to provide more formal interpretive or no-action guidance about the proper characterization of a
digital asset in a proposed use.[15] In addition, we recognize that there are numerous implications under the
federal securities laws of a particular asset being considered a security. For example, our Divisions of Trading and
Markets and Investment Management are focused on such issues as broker-dealer, exchange and fund
registration, as well as matters of market manipulation, custody and valuation. We understand that market
participants are working to make their services compliant with the existing regulatory framework, and we are happy
to continue our engagement in this process.

What are some of the factors to consider in assessing whether a digital asset is offered as an investment contract
and is thus a security? Primarily, consider whether a third party – be it a person, entity or coordinated group of
actors – drives the expectation of a return. That question will always depend on the particular facts and
circumstances, and this list is illustrative, not exhaustive:

1. Is there a person or group that has sponsored or promoted the creation and sale of the digital asset, the
efforts of whom play a significant role in the development and maintenance of the asset and its potential
increase in value?

2. Has this person or group retained a stake or other interest in the digital asset such that it would be
motivated to expend efforts to cause an increase in value in the digital asset? Would purchasers
reasonably believe such efforts will be undertaken and may result in a return on their investment in the
digital asset?

3. Has the promoter raised an amount of funds in excess of what may be needed to establish a functional
network, and, if so, has it indicated how those funds may be used to support the value of the tokens or
to increase the value of the enterprise? Does the promoter continue to expend funds from proceeds or
operations to enhance the functionality and/or value of the system within which the tokens operate?

4. Are purchasers “investing,” that is seeking a return? In that regard, is the instrument marketed and sold
to the general public instead of to potential users of the network for a price that reasonably correlates
with the market value of the good or service in the network?

5. Does application of the Securities Act protections make sense? Is there a person or entity others are
relying on that plays a key role in the profit-making of the enterprise such that disclosure of their
activities and plans would be important to investors? Do informational asymmetries exist between the
promoters and potential purchasers/investors in the digital asset?

6. Do persons or entities other than the promoter exercise governance rights or meaningful influence?

While these factors are important in analyzing the role of any third party, there are contractual or technical ways to
structure digital assets so they function more like a consumer item and less like a security. Again, we would look to
the economic substance of the transaction, but promoters and their counsels should consider these, and other,
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possible features. This list is not intended to be exhaustive and by no means do I believe each and every one of
these factors needs to be present to establish a case that a token is not being offered as a security. This list is
meant to prompt thinking by promoters and their counsel, and start the dialogue with the staff – it is not meant to
be a list of all necessary factors in a legal analysis.

1. Is token creation commensurate with meeting the needs of users or, rather, with feeding speculation?

2. Are independent actors setting the price or is the promoter supporting the secondary market for the
asset or otherwise influencing trading?

3. Is it clear that the primary motivation for purchasing the digital asset is for personal use or consumption,
as compared to investment? Have purchasers made representations as to their consumptive, as
opposed to their investment, intent? Are the tokens available in increments that correlate with a
consumptive versus investment intent?

4. Are the tokens distributed in ways to meet users’ needs? For example, can the tokens be held or
transferred only in amounts that correspond to a purchaser’s expected use? Are there built-in incentives
that compel using the tokens promptly on the network, such as having the tokens degrade in value over
time, or can the tokens be held for extended periods for investment?

5. Is the asset marketed and distributed to potential users or the general public?

6. Are the assets dispersed across a diverse user base or concentrated in the hands of a few that can
exert influence over the application?

7. Is the application fully functioning or in early stages of development?

These are exciting legal times and I am pleased to be part of a process that can help promoters of this new
technology and their counsel navigate and comply with the federal securities laws.

[1] The Securities and Exchange Commission disclaims responsibility for any private publication or statement of
any SEC employee or Commissioner. This speech expresses the author’s views and does not necessarily reflect
those of the Commission, the Commissioners or other members of the staff.

[2] Section 2(a)(1) of the Securities Act of 1933 (Securities Act) [15 U.S.C. § 77b(a)(1)] and Section 3(a)(10) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act) [15 U.S.C. § 78c(a)(10)] define “security.” These definitions
contain “slightly different formulations” of the term “security,” but the U.S. Supreme Court has “treated [them] as
essentially identical in meaning.” SEC v. Edwards, 540 U.S. 389, 393 (2004).

[3] I am using the term “promoters” in a broad, generic sense. The important factor in the legal analysis is that
there is a person or coordinated group (including “any unincorporated organization” see 5 U.S.C. § 77n(a)(4)) that
is working actively to develop or guide the development of the infrastructure of the network. This person or group
could be founders, sponsors, developers or “promoters” in the traditional sense. The presence of promoters in this
context is important to distinguish from the circumstance where multiple, independent actors work on the network
but no individual actor’s or coordinated group of actors’ efforts are essential efforts that affect the failure or success
of the enterprise.

[4] SEC v. W.J. Howey Co., 328 U.S. 293 (1946). Depending on the features of any given instrument and the
surrounding facts, it may also need to be evaluated as a possible security under the general definition of security –
see footnote 2 – and the case law interpreting it.

[5] Id. at 298.

[6] United Housing Found., Inc. v. Forman, 421 U.S. 837 (1975).

[7] Guidelines as to the Applicability of the Federal Securities Laws to Offers and Sales of Condominiums or Units
in a Real Estate Development, SEC Rel. No. 33-5347 (Jan. 4, 1973).
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[8] Gary Plastic Packaging Corp. v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc., 756 F.2d 230 (2d Cir. 1985).

[9] Secondary trading in digital assets by regulated entities may otherwise implicate the federal securities laws, as
well as the Commodity Exchange Act. In addition, as SEC Chairman Jay Clayton has stated, regulated financial
entities that allow for payment in cryptocurrencies, allow customers to purchase cryptocurrencies on margin or
otherwise use cryptocurrencies to facilitate securities transactions should exercise caution, including ensuring that
their cryptocurrency activities are not undermining their anti-money laundering and know-your-customer
obligations. Statement on Cryptocurrencies and Initial Coin Offerings (Dec. 11, 2017). In addition, other laws and
regulations, such as IRS regulations and state money servicing laws, may be implicated.

[10] The Supreme Court’s investment contract test “embodies a flexible rather than a static principle, one that is
capable of adaptation to meet the countless and variable schemes devised by those who seek the use of the
money of others on the promise of profits.” Howey, 328 U.S. at 299.

[11] “[T]he name given to an instrument is not dispositive.” Forman, 421 U.S. at 850.

[12] Forman, 421 U.S. at 853.

[13] See footnotes 10 and 11.

[14] SEC Rel. No. 33-5018 (Nov. 4, 1969); Investment in Interests in Whisky, SEC Rel. No. 33-5451 (Jan 7, 1974).

[15] For example, some have raised questions about the offering structure commonly referred to as a Simple
Agreement for Future Tokens, or “SAFT.” Because the legal analysis must follow the economic realities of the
particular facts of an offering, it may not be fruitful to debate a hypothetical structure in the abstract and nothing in
these remarks is meant to opine on the legality or appropriateness of a SAFT. From the discussion in this speech,
however, it is clear I believe a token once offered in a security offering can, depending on the circumstances, later
be offered in a non-securities transaction. I expect that some, perhaps many, may not. I encourage anyone that
has questions on a particular SAFT structure to consult with knowledgeable securities counsel or the staff.
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1      A.  Yes.  

2                    (Hinman Exhibit 10 was marked 

3                     for identification.)

4 BY MR. FIGEL:  

5      Q.  Let me show you what I'll ask the court 

6 reporter to mark as Exhibit 10, which is EE in the 

7 outline.  Would you mind handing that to the court 

8 reporter?  

9      A.  Hand it to the court reporter?  

10      Q.  Yes.  

11          Mr. Hinman, I'm confident that you're 

12 familiar with this document.  

13      A.  I am.  

14      Q.  I'll represent to you this is a copy of 

15 your June 14th, 2018 speech that was taken off of 

16 the SEC Website.  You'll see at the top it's 

17 entitled "Speech," and it says "Remarks at the 

18 Yahoo Finance All Markets Summit:  Crypto."  

19          You were the author of this speech?  

20          MR. TENREIRO:  Object to form.  

21      A.  Yes.  

22      Q.  And you were responsible for the content 
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1 of this speech?  

2          MR. TENREIRO:  I object to form.  

3      A.  Yes.  

4      Q.  And you prepared this speech as part of 

5 your duties as the director of the division of 

6 corporate finance, correct?  

7      A.  Again, I'm not sure I had a duty to 

8 provide a speech, but I did do this speech while I 

9 was the director, yes.  

10      Q.  You prepared this speech as part of the 

11 services you provided to the Securities and 

12 Exchange Commission in your capacity as the 

13 director of the division of corporate finance, 

14 correct?  

15      A.  I gave this speech while I was the 

16 director of the division of corporation finance.  

17      Q.  And you knew that this exhibit, we're now 

18 talking about Exhibit 10, the document, was posted 

19 on the SEC's Website, correct?  

20      A.  Yes.

21      Q.  And you understood -- withdrawn.

22          And did you understand prior to the time 
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1 you delivered this speech that it would be posted 

2 on the SEC's Website?  

3      A.  I think I did, yes.  Normally we would 

4 think about that in advance.  

5      Q.  Was it your decision to post the speech on 

6 the SEC's Website?  

7      A.  Yes.  

8      Q.  And tell me what the process is by which 

9 you made the judgment or the determination to post 

10 the speech on the Website.  

11          MR. TENREIRO:  I'm going to instruct him 

12 not to discuss deliberation with staff or 

13 commissioners or their counsel.  So you might want 

14 to rephrase.  I mean, the process by which he made 

15 the judgment?  I don't know, but go ahead.  

16      A.  Do you want to rephrase?

17      Q.  Why don't you try to answer my question.  

18      A.  Could you repeat the question?  

19      Q.  Sure.  I'll rephrase it slightly.  

20          Why did you decide to post Exhibit 10 on 

21 the SEC's Website?  

22          MR. TENREIRO:  And just, you know, the 
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1 same instruction, but go ahead.  

2      A.  Typically if I gave a speech while I was 

3 the director I would have it posted just to 

4 benefit, you know, the folks who wanted to see it 

5 who couldn't go to the conference or hear the 

6 remarks live.  

7      Q.  And what benefit did you think folks who 

8 didn't attend the conference would obtain from 

9 having access to your speech?  

10          MR. TENREIRO:  Same instruction, 

11 Mr. Hinman.  

12      A.  I think they would be able to see how the 

13 division under my leadership was looking at these 

14 issues.  

15      Q.  And you didn't personally post the speech 

16 on the Website, correct?  

17      A.  That's right.  

18      Q.  There was somebody in the IT department at 

19 the SEC who would post it?  

20      A.  That's right.  

21      Q.  And did you review it before it was 

22 posted, this version?  
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1      A.  I don't know if I reviewed the actual 

2 document that was handed over to IT, but I would 

3 have looked at -- I've looked at this speech many 

4 times before then and my counsel may have been the 

5 folks that delivered this to IT.  

6      Q.  And presumably you had the opportunity to 

7 review your speech prior to your testimony today?  

8      A.  Yes.

9      Q.  Are there any statements in Exhibit 10 

10 that you do not believe to be accurate as you sit 

11 here today?  

12          MR. TENREIRO:  Without disclosing 

13 deliberations with the staff that might have 

14 occurred after the speech was published on the 

15 Website.  

16      A.  I don't believe so.  

17      Q.  So in other words, if you were releasing 

18 the speech today and you were still serving as the 

19 director of the division of corporate finance, 

20 would you edit this speech in any way before you 

21 gave it?  

22          MR. TENREIRO:  Object to form.  
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1      A.  I don't think so.  

2      Q.  Why did you give the speech, Mr. Hinman?  

3          MR. TENREIRO:  Without disclosing -- you 

4 know, so let's talk about the final decision only 

5 and let's keep it high level, please, without 

6 disclosing the reasons you might have discussed 

7 with staff of the SEC or commissioners.  

8      A.  Okay.  I was asked to attend the summit 

9 and to speak at the summit, and we agreed -- or I 

10 agreed to do that.  You know, why I think I gave 

11 it?  Because this is an area where people were 

12 interested in knowing how the division was looking 

13 at these issues.  

14      Q.  And did you have an understanding as to 

15 why people were interested in how the division was 

16 looking at these issues?  

17          MR. TENREIRO:  Do not discuss -- or 

18 disclose understandings you might have derived in 

19 the deliberations or conversations with staff or 

20 commissioners.  

21      A.  Based on my own meetings up to the date of 

22 this speech with outside parties it seemed like 
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1 this was an area they, again, were interested in 

2 knowing more about how the division itself felt 

3 about this area.  

4      Q.  And in your own mind did you think that 

5 delivering this speech would answer any open issues 

6 with respect to the application of the federal 

7 securities laws to digital asset transactions?  

8          MR. TENREIRO:  So, again, even in his own 

9 mind, if it's in his mind because it came from 

10 conversations and discussions with staff, please 

11 don't answer.  Please try to uncouple what you 

12 learned from, you know, your deliberations with the 

13 staff to answer his question.  

14      A.  Okay.  I'm sorry.  Would you mind asking 

15 me the question again?  

16      Q.  In your own mind did you think delivering 

17 this speech would answer any open issues with 

18 respect to the application of the federal 

19 securities laws to digital asset transactions?  

20      A.  I think it would inform the marketplace of 

21 how corporation -- the division of corporation 

22 finance and I felt about these topics, but there's 
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1 a whole host of things covered here.  

2      Q.  Did you think this -- withdrawn.

3          Did you believe this speech provided 

4 clarity to the market with respect to the 

5 application of the federal securities laws to 

6 digitalize the transactions?  

7          MR. TENREIRO:  So same instruction on 

8 deliberative process and also object to form.  

9      A.  I think it provided clarity as to how I 

10 was looking at these issues.  

11      Q.  And did you have an -- withdrawn.

12          Did you believe that was new information 

13 to the marketplace?  

14          MR. TENREIRO:  Same instruction.  

15      A.  I think how I felt about things or the 

16 framework I had in my mind was, you know, not -- 

17 wasn't something I had published in a speech 

18 earlier.  

19      Q.  And what about -- what are the things or 

20 the framework that you had in your mind that you 

21 communicated in the speech that you had not 

22 published or stated earlier?  
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1      A.  Well, as I've mentioned before, a lot of 

2 things that are in the speech have been covered in 

3 earlier topics, the application of the Howey case 

4 in general, our concern about information 

5 asymmetries of people who were doing unregistered 

6 offerings of tokens.  What's more new here is a 

7 framework that was meant to help people analyze, 

8 okay, this is what I'm doing, am I offering a 

9 security and do the securities laws apply, or at 

10 least how is corp fin, the director looking at that 

11 issue.  

12      Q.  And did you view that as guidance that you 

13 were offering to the marketplace that had not been 

14 made available in the past?  

15      A.  I think the framework was -- you know, in 

16 terms of articulating specific factors was probably 

17 the -- although we had referred to those things in 

18 talking to market participants, I'm not sure we had 

19 ever given a speech with the framework laid out the 

20 way it is here.  

21      Q.  All right.  Just a ministerial point.  So 

22 we have the written speech.  We've entered into a 
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1 attachment to the e-mail?  

2      A.  No.  

3      Q.  Are you familiar with the Blockchain 

4 Association?  

5      A.  Not very.  

6      Q.  According to their Website they claim that 

7 they're one of the "Leading advocacy groups in the 

8 digital asset space whose goal is to improve the 

9 public policy environment so that blockchain 

10 networks will thrive in the United States."  

11          Does that refresh your recollection at all 

12 as to what the Blockchain Association is?  

13      A.  It sounds like a trade association.  

14      Q.  And they refer to themselves as the 

15 unified voice of the blockchain in cryptocurrency 

16 industry?  

17      A.  Okay.  

18      Q.  Does it refresh your recollection?  

19      A.  Just -- just that someone active in the 

20 space.  I don't really know them very well.  

21      Q.  And if you see the attachment, they sent a 

22 document that bears the caption the "Hinman token 
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1 standard, a reasonable framework for determining 

2 when tokens are and are not securities."  Do you 

3 agree that your June 14th, 2018 speech announced a 

4 Hinman token standard?  

5      A.  I guess people have called it that.  I 

6 didn't intend it for to be called the Hinman 

7 standard.  

8      Q.  Putting aside the label, did you 

9 understand that people would view your speech as 

10 having announced a framework by which the division 

11 of corporate finance would determine when tokens 

12 are and are not securities?  

13      A.  The speech and other guidance was intended 

14 to share more generally the framework that the 

15 division was using in thinking about these assets.  

16      Q.  Did you disagree with the substance of 

17 what is reflected in the attachment, which is your 

18 speech announced a new framework for determining 

19 when tokens are and are not securities?  

20          MR. TENREIRO:  Object to form.  

21      A.  Do I disagree that it announced a new 

22 framework?  I think I would quibble with that a 
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1 little bit.  I think that's a framework many folks 

2 were using at the time.  

3      Q.  After your speech did third parties come 

4 to the division of corporate finance and argue that 

5 a digital transaction was not a security based on 

6 the factors outlined in your speech?  

7      A.  They would cite the factors and other 

8 factors.  

9      Q.  Did you accept that the factors set out in 

10 your speech was the criteria by which the division 

11 of corporate finance would evaluate whether a 

12 digital asset transaction was a security?  

13      A.  Generally.  

14      Q.  And what do you mean by generally?  

15      A.  There are other factors that may be 

16 relevant that are not in the framework, things that 

17 are more derived from the Gary Plastic case, for 

18 instance.  

19      Q.  Well, the factors that you outlined in 

20 your speech that the Blockchain Association viewed 

21 as the Hinman token standard was a new framework 

22 that the division of corporate finance announced 
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1 through you and your speech, correct?  

2          MR. TENREIRO:  Objection to form.  He 

3 already answered no to that question.  

4      A.  I think, again, it was the first time that 

5 particular framework was published.  So you could 

6 call it a new publication, but I think the 

7 framework itself, the principles underlying the 

8 framework have been well known for a long time.  

9      Q.  And following the speech the division of 

10 corporate finance applied the framework that you 

11 announced on June 14th in connection with their 

12 evaluation of whether digital asset transactions 

13 were securities, correct?  

14      A.  Generally, but not always.  

15                    (Hinman Exhibit 35 and 

16                     Exhibit 36 were marked for 

17                     identification.)

18 BY MR. FIGEL:  

19      Q.  So I'm now showing you what is in the 

20 outline as PPP and which I will ask the court 

21 reporter to mark as Exhibit 35.  In light of the 

22 concern about the time I'm going to also show you 
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(The Court and all parties appearing telephonically) 

THE COURT:  Good afternoon, everybody.  This is Judge

Netburn.  Let's begin by calling the case and then I want to

address a few housekeeping matters before we address the motion

that's before me today.

This case is SEC v. Ripple Labs Incorporated, the

docket no. is 20 Civil 13832.  Let me first confirm that our

court reporter is on the line.

OFFICIAL REPORTER:  Good afternoon, your Honor.

Pamela Utter with Southern District Reporters.

THE COURT:  Wonderful.  Thank you.

On behalf of the SEC?

MR. BLISS:  Good afternoon, your Honor.  This is Dugan

Bliss.  Joining me are my colleagues, Jorge Tenreiro, Daphna

Waxman, Jon Daniels, and Ladan Stewart.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  And will you be speaking

primarily on behalf of the SEC?

MR. BLISS:  I will, your Honor.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

And on behalf of defendant Ripple Labs?

MR. KELLOGG:  Good afternoon, your Honor.  This is

Michael Kellogg.  With me on the phone are several colleagues,

but I will be the one speaking on behalf of Ripple Labs.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

On behalf of defendant Bradley Garlinghouse?
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MR. SOLOMON:  Good afternoon, your Honor.  Matt

Solomon from Cleary Gottlieb and, like Mr. Kellogg, there is

other Cleary lawyers on the phone but I will be speaking on

behalf of Mr. Garlinghouse today.  Thank you.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

On behalf of defendant Christian Larsen?

MR. FLUMENBAUM:  Good afternoon, your Honor.  This is

Martin Flumenbaum from Paul Weiss.  With me are my colleagues,

Mike Gertzman and Meredith Dearborn, and Mr. Gertzman will be

the principal spokesperson for this hearing for Mr. Larsen.

MR. GERTZMAN:  Good afternoon, your Honor.  This is

Michael Gertzman.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  All right.  Good afternoon.

I hope everybody on the call is healthy and safe, as 

well as our audience listening in.  Let me first address the 

audience.  I understand that we have 500 people listening in.  

I understand that we have maxed out our capacity to have people 

listening to the conference.  We apologize for that.  We will 

see if we can make arrangements to increase the limit from 500 

but that is the full capacity for today's conference.  Related 

to that, earlier this morning I was conducting other business 

and approximately 175 individuals called in this morning -- 

into my conference line that I ordinarily use for court 

conferences -- thinking that our 2:00 p.m. conference was 

scheduled for this morning.  And that lasted for several hours 
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constantly interrupting my other cases.  I then issued an 

emergency order which I think stemmed that flow of people 

calling in during my other court conferences.  We will make 

every effort to keep these conferences open to the public.  We 

have every intention of accommodating as many people as we can 

and doing everything that we can to facilitate an open hearing 

as though we were in the court house but I do need everybody 

who wants to participate to pay attention to when conferences 

are held.  This is not my only case and having 175 people 

calling in, interrupting my court conferences, was incredibly 

disruptive this morning, and so I will request and urge that 

anyone who wants to listen in is welcome to listen in but 

please make sure that you are calling in at the right time.  I 

know a number of you were calling in from abroad and so maybe 

there was some confusion as to how to calculate the time.  

Please, use the Internet or some way to make sure you are 

calling at the right time that the conference is scheduled for 

so that that problem that happened this morning, which as I 

said, was incredibly disruptive to my morning conferences, does 

not repeat itself. 

The second housekeeping matter I want to raise is with

respect to recording or rebroadcasting of today's proceeding.

That is strictly prohibited.  Let me say that again.  It is

prohibited for anyone to record or rebroadcast today's

proceeding.  That has been the law in the Southern District of
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New York for as long as the court has been around and it is the

oldest court house in the country.  We have a court reporter

here, she is excellent, and she is transcribing every single

utterance and that record will be made available to the public

through the court's filing system but it is impermissible to

record the conference and post it on YouTube or any other

platform for the public to see.  That is a violation of our

court rules and it is a violation of my order directing

everybody not to record or rebroadcast today's proceeding.

So, I want to make those points as clear as possible 

so that we don't find out, as we did after our last conference 

that the conference was recorded and then it was broadcast onto 

YouTube. 

Okay.  With those housekeeping matters completed let's

turn to the reason that we are all here today which is the

application filed by the defendants and a letter filed on March

15 regarding discovery requests that were served on the SEC.  I

have received the defendant's letter, again filed March 15th,

the SEC's response filed on March 22nd, and the defendant's

reply which was filed on March 24th and I have reviewed all of

those in preparation for today's proceeding.

Why don't I turn first to the SEC, even though this is

defendant's motion, but since the defendants filed a reply

brief I would like to turn first to the SEC so I guess I will

address my questions to Mr. Bliss.
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Mr. Bliss, let me ask you a few questions.  I

understand that a number of the arguments that you raise in

opposing the discovery that is sought is by citing other cases

that address two different factors, one is the question of

whether or not other cryptocurrencies, namely BitCoin and Ether

whether discovery related to those assets could be discoverable

in cases here and you cite to a couple of cases including the

Kik case where Courts have held that discovery related to other

assets was not appropriate.  So, I would like to ask you

whether or not in any of those cases you had individual

defendants that were sued where questions about recklessness or

knowledge was at issue, or whether all of those cases that you

cite were cases brought exclusively against the alleged issuer.

MR. BLISS:  Yes, your Honor.  So, those were cases

brought against issuers, not against individuals, although I do

believe that we explained in our letters why we think the

reasoning applies.

THE COURT:  Let's talk about that a little bit.  Go

ahead.

MR. BLISS:  So, I am happy to expand.  So, defendants

asked for these documents because essentially they're asking

that the Court look at how XRP was viewed and somehow it would

be relevant to look at how Bitcoin and Ether are viewed as

well.  Defendants summarily claim that Bitcoin and Ether are

like XRP but that is simply wrong and defendants know better
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than anyone how XRP is different from those digital assets, and

I think, your Honor, if you look at that and just on the facts

as we have alleged them, it is clear why the arguments are

making -- don't make sense.  So, among other things, we alleged

in our complaint at paragraph 53 that back in 2012, Ripple and

Mr. Larsen received legal memos stating that XRP could be

considered a security including because Ripple was responsible

for promoting and marketing XRP and --

THE COURT:  Can I stop you for one moment?

MR. BLISS:  Yes.  

THE COURT:  Sorry, Mr. Bliss.

I just want to remind you that we are on an open and 

public line and to the extent there was any information that 

was filed under seal, I don't know if what you are talking 

about covers that, but I just want to remind everybody that 

there were documents that were filed under seal here and that 

should be honored. 

MR. BLISS:  Absolutely, your Honor.  And to be clear,

I am only going to reference facts that we alleged in the

complaint, although there were additional facts filed under

seal that I will not be mentioning during this argument.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  All right.  Proceed.

MR. BLISS:  Certainly.

So, additionally, all 100 million XRP in existence

were created in 2012 and were controlled by Ripple and its
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founders as we allege at Complaint paragraph 46.  Now, in

contrast, Bitcoin and Ether are mined on an ongoing basis,

meaning that totally unrelated people from around the world

performed calculations with computers that unlock new coins

which those people can then hold or sell themselves.  And

unlike Bitcoin and Ether, Ripple and Mr. Larsen, and later

Mr. Garlinghouse, themselves offered and sold XRP all from that

100 million XRP that was originally created that was part of an

ongoing offering that continued from at least 2013 to the

filing of the complaint and raised about $1.4 billion for

Ripple and enriched Mr. Larsen and Mr. Garlinghouse by about

$600 million as we allege in paragraph complaints paragraphs 1

through 8.

So, the point is there was never a central promoter

profiting from an ongoing offering of Bitcoin or Ether.  So,

XRP is nothing like those other digital assets.  And so,

however defendants try to explain the basis of the relevance of

the Bitcoin and Ether documents, we just believe there is no

supporting basis.  We did, obviously, highlight several cases

that did not analyze or, rather, did not analyze Bitcoin and

Ether, Zaslavskiy, Telegram, Kik as you noted.  I do agree that

those did not involve individual defendants but there is

nothing about the inclusion of individual defendants in our

case that somehow makes these coins that are not at issue in

our case relevant to the proceedings here.
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THE COURT:  Can I ask you a question, Mr. Bliss?  If

you are saying to me, Judge, they shouldn't get documents

related to Bitcoin and Ether because those are just totally

different assets, they have nothing to do with XRP; if I am to

make a discovery ruling on that conclusion, wouldn't I just be

deciding the case?  Because as I understand it the defendants

are saying, well, actually, there are many ways in which they

are similar and we are at discovery and we are entitled to

pursue our own defenses and one of the defenses that we are

going to make -- maybe we will be successful and maybe we

won't -- but one of the defenses is, hey, we are just like

those guys and so we want to build-up that defense.

So, it seems to me, if I understand your argument,

that if I were to agree with you and say you are right, these

are different assets and they shouldn't get discovery I would

basically be deciding the case.

MR. BLISS:  Your Honor, I understand where you are

coming from but in response, no.  For instance, defendants own

cited case law I think really establishes that.  Because the

case law that is out there, such as the Marine Bank Supreme

Court case, says that in doing the analysis that the Court will

ultimately have to do in this case that the Court has to look

at the character the instrument is given in commerce by the

terms of the offer, the plan of distribution, and the economic

inducements held out to the prospects.  That's the Supreme
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Court's Marine Bank decision.  In other words, the focus is on

the promoter.  In Section 5 cases, be they, you know, crypto,

digital asset cases, or otherwise, the question is how did the

promoter offer this instrument?  Was it offered as an

investment?  Was it something else?  There is absolutely no

case law supporting the idea that pulling in some unrelated

asset that somehow adds to the analysis matters and so, no,

there wouldn't be pre-judgment of the case because the case,

from the outset, needs to be focused on XRP, not on these other

assets that have nothing to do with whether XRP is a security.

THE COURT:  That brings me to another question that I

was going to ask you which is is it your view that the Howey

factors, when the Court is evaluating those, that the Court

should be looking exclusively at -- from the point of view of

the alleged issuer, meaning all that really matters, all that

should be concerned is how XRP or Ripple Labs introduced itself

to the world, how it made its offers -- I'm not using that word

in the legal term -- but how it promoted and presented itself

and that the Courts would not be looking at the marketplace,

the community, and how what was being offered for sale was

being interpreted by the rest of the community.

MR. BLISS:  Well, I think, your Honor, that several

cases have dealt with this including the Warfield case out of

the Ninth Circuit which found that it's possible that some

factors, in terms of market understanding of third-parties are
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relevant, but the Warfield case found, did "we must focus our

inquiry on what the purchases were offered, were promised." 

And so, there are certainly are factors about market

understanding that are relevant but case after case -- Marine

bank, Warfield, and others that we discuss -- keep going back

to the offer and the promise made by the promoter.  So, the

case is focused from a legal perspective and should be focused

from a discovery perspective on that.  To broaden it and to

bring in these unrelated coins, it simply goes far beyond what

the law provides and how to decide these Section 5 cases.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

So, we were talking a moment ago about individual

liability and you were, I believe, expressing the view that the

claims against Garlinghouse and Larsen don't change the

analysis from any of these other cases that have been relying

on.

Can you discuss with me more a little bit why that is 

your thinking? 

MR. BLISS:  Sure.

So, I think that's one of the reasons why the

defendants assert that it somehow does change, it relates to

the claimed lack of due process or fair notice that they claim

to have not been given but, as we cited, and in particular the

Kik case focuses on that issue.  It makes clear that the law

does not require the government to reach out and warn all
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potential violators on individual or industry level and I

think, more importantly for today's purposes, the Court in Kik

ruled that the vagueness inquiry does not call for a factual

investigation, and to whether the statute has led to arbitrary

enforcement it asks objectively whether the statute authorizes

or even encourages arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.

So, whether it is based on the individual's scienter,

affirmative defenses, or standard liability under Section 5, we

are talking about objective facts that matter.  The Howey test

raises objective questions based on the facts known to

defendants.  The due process and fair notice defenses raise

objective questions about the statute and so none of these

various issues that have been raised by the defendants or, in

particular, the individual defendants, provide any basis to

expand discovery into assets that are not at issue in the case

and, as we point out in our letter, we certainly don't believe

that they have identified a single case that has done that or

that would support doing that.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

Let's change focus now.  Can you talk about, more

generally, setting aside the Bitcoin and Ether documents but

even with respect to the XRP documents, the SEC's position with

respect to searching communications with third-parties, other

government agencies, and searching more broadly even within the

SEC.  I understand that that has been only to look at its
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investigative files and only half of the custodians that were

sought.  So, can you talk to me about the SEC's position with

respect to what I will call the XRP documents?

MR. BLISS:  Yes, I am happy to do that, your Honor.

Fist of all, we did agree, as part of this meet and

confer process leading up to the March 15 letter, that we would

review the e-mails of nine custodians who are high-ranking SEC

individuals for the terms "XRP" and "Ripple" that occurred in

external e-mails, meaning any communication that went outside

of the SEC itself so it could be to a complete third-party, to

another government agency, something like that, that we would

review those and produce responsive non-protected

non-privileged documents to defendants.  So, we are in the

process of doing that.  In terms of going beyond that -- so

obviously I have explained in some detail, both in the letter

and today, why we don't think that Bitcoin and Ether are

relevant and so why we didn't agree to search beyond that.

There are two additional parts to your question, one is the

searching for the internal XRP and Ripple documents and,

finally, I will get to the custodians themselves.

As for the internal XRP and Ripple documents, our 

view, in coming up with this offer during the meet and confer 

process, was that even though we don't believe that any of 

these communications, you know, with third-parties between SEC 

individuals and the outside world about XRP, are of any 
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relevance.  Nonetheless, to try to accommodate defendants' 

theory that somehow that would reflect the market view of XRP, 

we did agree to produce those documents that are non-protected 

because there would be third-party communications that would 

presumptively not be protected.  But when it comes to -- 

THE COURT:  Can I interrupt you for definitional

clarification?

MR. BLISS:  Yes.

THE COURT:  You are talking about internal

communications, and when I think of internal communications I

think of SEC staffer to SEC staffer as an internal

communication but it sounds like you are referring to a

communication from an SEC staffer to somebody outside the SEC.

So, I just want to be clear what I am talking about.

MR. BLISS:  I apologize, your Honor.  I clearly was

confusing the way I said it.  I am referring to the internal

communication being e-mail communications between SEC staffers

or potentially commissioners, but essentially e-mail from one

SEC.gov address to another.  If there is an outside e-mail

address involved I would characterize that as an external

communication.

THE COURT:  So now we are just talking about internal

SEC to SEC.

MR. BLISS:  Yes.

And so, the internal communications really fall into
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two buckets; one is that the defendants have asked for internal

communications that reference external communications.  We

think that it would be unnecessarily burdensome and duplicative

to conduct that review because we are already going to be

producing the external communications themselves and so it

would be a lot of review to simply produce information related

to what we are already producing.  Now, the other set of

documents would be the internal discussions that if two folks

from one the SEC were, for whatever reason, discussing XRP or

Ripple.  Now, we believe that those are completely irrelevant

because there was no communication of those views to the

outside world to influence the market view as defendants are

looking for, and so there is simply nothing of relevance.  In

addition, as we pointed out in our letters, when you are

talking about internal agency communications you are getting to

the heart of deliberative process and other privileges and

while we have not reviewed all of those documents and while I

can't say for certain that any particular document would be

covered by the deliberative process privilege, law enforcement,

attorney-client, or work product, we also believe that a

substantial chunk of any review like that would be of protected

e-mails and so it would be asking us to search for irrelevant

and protected e-mails which we just feel that it is a

disproportionate burden in the case.

Finally, your Honor, if you would like, I am happy to
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go into a little bit more detail about how we selected the nine

custodians out of the 19 suggested by defendants.  If your

Honor wants to do that I would suggest that I will do that by

referring to initials rather than names given the nature of

these proceedings, if that's acceptable.

THE COURT:  That is certainly acceptable to me.  I am

happy to hear from you on your views generally.

MR. BLISS:  Yes, your Honor.

So, as to the custodians, we first of all identified a

number of custodians on our own before the custodians were

suggested by defendants.  They then provided a list and there

was a substantial overlap between the ones that we already

picked and the ones that they wanted.  And so, what we did is

that we had internal discussions to identify which individuals

in which division or other part of the Securities and Exchange

Commission would have potentially had communications with

third-parties -- with the outside world -- about Ripple or XRP.

And so, we identified two or three of the most relevant and

highest ranking people within the divisions of trading and

markets, divisions of investment management within the division

of corporate finance, as well as FinHub which is a subpart of

CorpFin dealing specifically with digital technology.  And so,

based on that we believed that we had identified the most

relevant custodians.  We cross-referenced that with the initial

disclosures put forward by defendants to make sure that if they
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had identified any individuals from the SEC they were included

on that list and we did that.  And so, that is how we arrived

at the nine individuals that we are currently searching for

e-mails in their boxes and those would be initials EB, DB, WH,

JI, JM, BR, VS, AS, and MV.

Now, there are 10 additional custodians that were

suggested by defendants who we don't believe -- we have not

agreed to search the e-mails and we do not believe we should be

ordered to search the e-mails and so there are a few reasons

particular to different individuals.  So, as to the individuals

with the initials FA, KL, and JB, these are people who are in

or were in high-ranking positions within the division of

enforcement who either were involved in the investigation

leading to, or who in the case of JB we have no reason to think

that there were third-party communications about XRP or Ripple.

So, for the other two, we think that's -- and the review would

show documents related to the investigation, not the type of

third-party communications that we understand defendants to be

seeking.

There are a few custodians who we believe are simply

duplicative of others and so those would be with the initials

SGB, RC, MR, and NS, who are largely are or were in the

division of corporate finance or the cyber unit.  And, from our

understanding of how communications are made within those

divisions involving those people, we believe that searching
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those e-mails would largely produce duplicative results.  In

other words, if those people were involved with communications

with the outside world, based on our own internal diligence, we

believe those communications would nevertheless show up in the

mail boxes of those custodians we are already searching.

And then, finally, there are three additional

custodians suggested by defendants with the initials JC, HP,

and ER, and those individuals are either current or former SEC

commissioners or chairs and our understanding is that those

individuals would have been unlikely or less likely to have

communicated with the outside world about XRP or Ripple by

e-mail but that has not been the standard practice.  And so, we

did not agree to search those mail boxes on that basis.  And I

apologize, that's a bit of a lengthy explanation, but that was

our analysis of each of the proposed custodians.

THE COURT:  No, that was helpful.  Thank you very

much.

Let me turn to Mr. Kellogg who I assume is going to

take the lead here.

MR. KELLOGG:  Thank you, your Honor.

I think Mr. Bliss' discussion really highlights why we

need and why we are entitled to the information about Bitcoin

and Ether.  At issue in this case is almost how to apply a

90-year-old statute and 75-year-old Supreme Court precedent to

something that only came into existence quite recently which is
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cryptocurrencies.  The SEC has not provided a lot of guidance

on that issue and they have been widely criticized for not

doing so but we do have some data points to look at.  On the

one hand there is the well publicized conclusion that two

digital currencies -- Bitcoin and Ether -- do not run afoul of

the how we test and are not securities.  On the other side of

the spectrum they have their initial coin offering cases, you

will see reference to DOW tokens, and you mentioned Kik and

Telegram, and they have said that those are securities because

an initial coin offering is just like a fundraising tool

created to start creating and deploy future crypto.  So, in

that context, digital coins or tokens are really shares in the

enterprise that will be created when funds are raised.  The

question here, at the great risk of oversimplifying an

important issue, is whether XRP is in relevant respects like

Bitcoin and Ether, or whether it is like the tokens in the

other digital asset cases the SEC relies on.  So,

understandably we are seeking documents exchanged between the

SEC and third-parties about Bitcoin and Ether and why they are

not securities so that we can apply that to our own XRP.

Now, the SEC claims we are not entitled to those

documents because Bitcoin and Ether are "unrelated digital

assets" and therefore irrelevant to the Howey test.  Instead,

they claim that XRP is indistinguishable from the DOW tokens

and the initial coin offerings but that is a classic legal
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argument based on precedent.  Is the unique instrument we are

dealing with today, is it more like precedent A or is more like

precedent B?  And perhaps the most telling fact on that motion

is that the SEC, itself, is seeking comparative information

about XRP and other digital assets.  It made clear just last

week, as part of the meet and confer process -- and I want to

quote this because it is quite remarkable given the argument he

is making here -- they said to Ripple, "We request that you

also search for and produce documents relating to comparisons

to assets that have been the subject of SEC enforcement action

for being securities under Howey."  In other words, they want

to see comparative information of how XRP relates to other

digital assets but only if they think it helps their case.  If

it helps our case then they argue that the assets are unrelated

and information about them should be excluded.  Now, that's not

the way Rule 26 works.  The question is whether requested

discovery is relevant to any party's claim or defense.  And as

the Court explained in Palm Bay International and as you

yourself noted earlier, and I quote here from the case:  It

would be inappropriate for the Court, at this discovery stage

in this litigation, to make any substantive determination

regarding a disputed defense.  That determination is properly

made upon a motion for summary judgment or a trial before the

district judge.

So the SEC, in essence, wants summary judgment on this
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aspect of our defense but they don't get it in a Rule 26

dispute; all we need to show is the relevance of it to any

defense that we might offer.  Now, I am happy to walk through

the merits on why we think that Bitcoin and Ether are in fact

like XRP, they are the three major digital currencies in use

today and I can go down a check list of factors that they share

in common.  Indeed, I can also add factors that show that XRP

has certain advantages over Bitcoin and Ether that makes it

even less like a security in the SEC's telling and under the

Howey test.  Again, though, that isn't relevant, the merits

right now.  What is relevant is that we have got a legitimate

defense that we think we should be able to press.  The SEC has

published a 38-factor test for when a particular coin or

cryptocurrency is a security or at least factors that they say

you should take into account but they have made no effort to

weight those factors in any way or provide actual guidance for

the marketplace so we are left in the position of saying, okay,

these two -- Ether and Bitcoin -- you have said that they're

not securities.  These over here -- DOW, Telegram, Kik -- they

are securities.  We can gather evidence to support our view of

why XRP is like Bitcoin and XRP, part of which will show under

the Howey test that the Price of XRP moves in conjunction with

the digital currencies Bitcoin and Ether, not with anything

that Ripple is doing to promote those which is extremely

relevant under the Howey test.  The SEC is incorrect that Howey
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somehow silos XRP and treats it in isolation as if Bitcoin and

Ether did not exist.  That's not the way the Howey test works.

As the case law indicates and, actually, as the SEC itself

concedes, whether XRP is a security is a fact-specific inquiry

that necessarily turns on the totality of the circumstances.

So, we need to investigate the circumstances under which

Bitcoin and Ether are not securities, as well as the

circumstances under which that the SEC wants to indicate what

in DOW and Kik are.  The case Law says Howey turns on the

character of the instrument in commerce and what objective

participants were led to expect, and XRP's character in

commerce, what people were led to expect, is shaped by the

SEC's own messaging to the public about Bitcoin and Ether,

similarities between those currencies and XRP and its eight

years of non-action against XRP.  All of that led market

participants and Ripple itself to conclude that XRP was not a

security.  But, definitely relevant to the Howey test, as you

pointed out, it has great relevance both to our fair notice

defense because if we -- and the Second Circuit put it in

Upton -- if the SEC failed to give, "a person of ordinary

intelligence" a reasonable opportunity to know what is

prohibited and they are not put on fair notice that the SEC

would suddenly, after eight years decides that it would treat

XRP as a security and the same as Mr. Solomon and Mr. Gertzman

will elaborate, the same applies whether the individual
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defendants were reckless or had knowledge that XRP would be

found to be a security.

Now, we have already found documents from

third-parties going to various market participants like

cryptocurrency exchanges and hedge funds, met with the SEC

specifically seeking guidance on whether they could list and

transact in XRP along with Bitcoin and Ether or whether XRP had

to be treated as a security.  They presented their own analysis

to the SEC about why XRP was not a security.  And after the

meeting they proceeded to list XRP on their exchanges or invest

in XRP in their funds.  So, obviously they reached the

conclusion that XRP was not a security and was not told

otherwise by the SEC.  So, materials on those meetings between

the SEC and third-parties were shaping market expectations

about XRP and are highly relevant to our argument that we are

like Bitcoin and Ether and not like the initial coin offerings

at issue in Telegram.  And the SEC obviously cannot dispute

that its communications with these third-parties about how XRP

compares with Bitcoin and Ether and are not securities are

plainly relevant to our defenses and Rule 26 requires no more.

If I may move on I will turn to the SEC internal

documents and we are talking about documents concerning XRP

itself, as well as documents about how XRP compares to Bitcoin

and Ether and why the latter aren't securities.

THE COURT:  Mr. Kellogg, I just want to raise the same
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definitional points that I raised with Mr. Bliss which is if

you can be clear about whether you are speaking about documents

within the SEC, meaning SEC staffer to SEC staffer at whatever

hierarchy, versus documents between someone at the SEC and

someone outside of the SEC, whether that's another government

agency or a market participant or whomever.

MR. KELLOGG:  Yes, your Honor.  I am now talking about

the former, purely internal SEC documents, but one of the

reasons why such documents are relevant is that to the extent

that they're reflecting their communications in meetings with

third-party, they'll reveal market views on XRP and additional

contacts that external communications alone would not show.

The internal communications don't have themselves to be

admissible to be discoverable under 26(b)(1).  Now, as I noted,

the SEC is the focal point for requests for regulatory guidance

as to whether XRP was a security.  There are more than 200

currency exchanges (inaudible) creating an XRP before the suit

was brought and at least as many companies after using XRP in

their business plans.  We can't track down every one of those

companies to find out their interactions with the SEC but the

SEC's own internal correspondence, summaries of meetings,

communications, reports of communications the SEC may have had

with market participants, e-mails about meetings just

concluded, arguments made by participants in those meetings,

those will all provide us with a shortcut to clearly admissible
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evidence about third-party views.

The second point here is it is part of the SEC's

mission statement to study and understand market conditions.

There almost certainly are documents in their files that

reflect not SEC deliberations but market conditions and

investor expectations regarding digital currencies studied by

the SEC and that evidence goes squarely to the Howey inquiry.

As the Second Circuit held in the Glen-Arden case, to properly

apply Howey the Court must consider what investors

contemplated, their understanding of what defendants would do

to turn a profit, and market condition.  Those are market facts

and no one is in a better position to have studied those market

facts than the SEC.  And to stress we are not talking about

deliberations, we are not talking about what led to their final

enforcement decision, we are talking about their gathering

reports and otherwise on-market facts.

And the third reason why the internal communications

are important is they're likely to show that the SEC was

flailing when it came to the application of the Securities Act

of 1933 in digital currencies.  It is understandable that they

want to keep such documents hidden but they chose to bring this

case and such documents would support the individual

defendants' lack of knowledge or recklessness and Ripple's lack

of fair notice.  It will also reflect the SEC's own knowledge

about market uncertainty and how the SEC chose to respond or
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not to respond to that uncertainty.  Let me just give one

example:  We have a copy of a communication that the SEC has

made about XRP to the public saying that after a request was

received on whether XRP is like Bitcoin and Ether or not in

which the SEC -- this was just two months before they filed the

suit -- we haven't made any decision about XRP, we are not in a

position to say anything about XRP.  But their internal

communications on that issue are likely to reveal deficiently

substantial uncertainty that no market participant could have

been on fair notice as to how the SEC would come out in that

case.

Finally, if I may, I will address burden and

privilege.  Mr. Bliss did not press burden particularly much

and for good reason.  The burden of complying with our request

is far less than complying with the SEC's own request.  We have

the statistics laid out at page 5 in our reply.  What we are

requesting is also proportional to the needs of the case

considering the importance of the issues at stake, the amount

in controversy, and the parties' relative access to

information, all of which are factors are relevant under

26(b)(1).  And that's also true of custodians.  We sought

documents from 19 custodians compared to the 30 custodians the

SEC sought from us.  All 19 were centrally involved in meetings

with market participants and understanding the character of

digital currencies and commerce.  And, if they were following
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government protocols, all of their communications would be over

the SEC.gov handle and, hence, readily searchable.  The SEC

unilaterally cut down our list to nine custodians and as we are

holding information from the other 10 if we just ask, if not

more likely, to have responsive documents.  They picked our 30

custodians, we didn't get to pick and choose.  They don't get

to pick and choose anymore who the custodians we want them to

search are, as long as it is proportional to the importance of

the case an the needs of the parties.  And I am happy to go

through all of the examples.  I think one of them is

particularly important, I am only talking about publicly

available information so there is no invasion of privacy here

but the Commission's former chairman is the one who authorized

the suit against XRP on his last day in office, thereby causing

a huge and immediate drop in XRP's market value, yet

Mr. Clayton has actively embraced Bitcoin and Ether.  Indeed,

he was the face of the agency meeting constantly with market

participants and receiving studies on the features and roles of

each of those digital currencies in commerce.  He was even

writing to Congress about them.  Based on these meetings and

studies, he obviously concluded that XRP is a security but

Bitcoin and Ether are not.  That has enormous market

consequences and we should have the right to seek documents and

meeting memos as set forth to the critical features and market

perceptions of each of the three digital currencies.
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Now, as to privilege, communications with

third-parties about Bitcoin and Ether are obviously not

privileged, just to go back to the first step in the

discussion.  None of those things are privileged.  Nor should

internal documents be to the extent that they're about market

conditions.  Case law draws a clear distinction between factual

material and deliberative process.  Moreover, the fact that

some documents may be privileged is not a basis to refuse to

conduct search.  Even some documents that are privileged,

whether it's deliberative process, litigation privilege,

they're subject only to a qualified privilege which means that

we may be entitled to argue as to specific documents if we have

a compelling need for them and no other source to fill that

need.  But, we can develop those arguments only if the SEC does

what Rule 26 requires which is review the documents and prepare

a privilege log.

Those are the points I wanted to make, your Honor, and

I am happy to answer any questions.

THE COURT:  Let me ask you a question with respect to

the documents related solely to Ether or Bitcoin.

My understanding is that in 2018 the SEC announced its

decision that those two assets were not securities.  Is there

any reason why you would need or be entitled to communications

in any form that relate solely to Bitcoin and Ether that

post-date that decision?
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MR. KELLOGG:  First of all, ones that post-date a

decision are not subject to the deliberative process

whatsoever, they're considered the development of the law by

the SEC and so there is no privilege for such document to the

extent that they reflect the SEC's understanding of just why --

an elaboration of just why Bitcoin and Ether are not

securities.  Now they announced this to the public -- or rather

the director of their corporate finance division announced this

to public in a speech in 2018 but it will read that speech in

vein for any details about just what it is that makes Bitcoin

and Ether not a security where it is something like a digital

currency like XRP is a security.  They talk about, for

example -- I mean we can go over the assets.  They say it has

a --

THE COURT:  I will stop you.  Sorry.  I will stop you.

MR. KELLOGG:  Okay.

THE COURT:  I don't need to go over the assets but my

question is if one of the reasons why you want to look at

Bitcoin and Ether communications or documents, I believe

exclusively to those assets, is because you want to see what

the SEC was thinking, what it was saying to other market

participants about how it was viewing these assets.  But, we

know that come 2018, when the speech is given, we know what

they think because now they're going public with it whether in

a sort of speech or otherwise, and presume that that decision
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was well thought out before the speech was given.  And so my

question to you is, after that public announcement in whatever

fashion and in whatever opaque way it was made, after that

announcement why would it matter what they were saying about

those assets since the market now had that information and

would act accordingly?

MR. KELLOGG:  Because the reasons for the decision are

certainly less than clear.  As I said, they later came up with

the framework for investment contract analysis, the list of 38

factors with no explication.  So, the reason why subsequent

communications, you could say everybody was coming to us and

saying, Okay, you now told us that Bitcoin and Ether are not

securities, you told us that DOW tokens are securities, what

about the vast middle in here?  What about XRP?  In what ways

is that like Bitcoin and Ether?  In what ways to you think that

is like DOW tokens?  And that information, what it is telling

the marketplace, is an admission about what the key factors are

that the SEC would apply to say something is or is not a

digital security as opposed to a cryptocurrency.  And we think

that to the extent they have articulated some factors

elaborating on the Howey test, we think we fall within what

they were telling people about when a particular currency is or

is not a digital asset.  That's been an ongoing dialogue since

the speech in June of 2018 that was given by Mr. Hinman.

THE COURT:  Thank you.
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I want to give an opportunity to the individual

defendants to speak but I want to reiterate my admonition to

the public again that the recording of today's conference is

prohibited and rebroadcasting it is prohibited and that anyone

who is found to have engaged in this conduct is subject to

criminal sanctions.  I know that this is being broadcast now on

the Internet and so we already have people looking into who is

engaging in that conduct.  Again, we will make this proceeding

as open as possible, to make it available for more people to

listen in than the 500 that are already listening if we are

able to do that.  Obviously, if we were in the court house we

would be limited by the physical limitations of the court

house.  The fact that we are engaging in this proceeding

remotely is not a basis to engage in criminal violations and so

we have our law enforcement officers looking into this issue

now.  And so, whoever is engaging in this conduct is on notice

that they are engaging in a violation of my specific order to

stop doing it, as well as the rules of our court and that

whoever is engaged in this conduct may be subject to criminal

sanctions.

So, why don't I turn -- I think we have spoken a lot 

about some of the issues that relate to the individual 

defendants but if Mr. Solomon or Mr. Gertzman wish to be heard, 

I will certainly give them an opportunity to speak. 

MR. SOLOMON:  Thank you, your Honor.  Matt Solomon for
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Mr. Garlinghouse and I am cutting as we are talking so I am

really going to trying not to repeat Mr. Kellogg's points which

were ably made with respect to Howey and, independently, with

respect to the individuals but let me amplify on the

individuals to make crystal clear our position.

As your Honor knows, in order to establish aiding and 

abetting, and that's the second charge here brought against the 

individuals, the SEC has to prove that Mr. Garlinghouse and 

Mr. Larsen acted with scienter and that means that, to take my 

client, Mr. Garlinghouse knew or recklessly disregarded that he 

was associating himself with something improper, and that 

something improper in the SEC's telling is Ripple's offers and 

sales of XRP without a registration statement.  And that, your 

Honor makes this a very different case from the typical SEC 

case.  As you asked Mr. Bliss about up front, because aiding 

and abetting charges are involving lying, insider trading, 

accounting fraud, here the SEC case is really one of regulatory 

interpretation and I think that's really what separates it from 

so many others.  And the SEC isn't just saying that 

Mr. Garlinghouse and Mr. Larsen got it wrong, they're saying 

they got it beyond grossly negligent wrong, they were reckless 

in not knowing that XRP was a security or they intentionally 

avoided knowing that XRP was a security.  So, why is that 

relevant for today's purposes?  We have already talked about 

the kind of documents we are seeking, your Honor, documents 

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Case 1:20-cv-10832-AT-SN   Document 576-5   Filed 07/27/22   Page 33 of 55



33

          SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.

            (212) 805-0300

L465secC                   

perhaps showing that the SEC itself was struggling with the 

question of whether XRP was a security and documents showing 

the SEC's communications with other market participants who 

were trying to get insight from the regulator as to whether XRP 

was a security.  And where the SEC is advancing as its primary 

theory that Mr. Garlinghouse and Mr. Larsen acted recklessly or 

consciously avoided knowledge that they were acting improperly 

because the SEC sales formed investment contracts and 

substantially assisted that violation, again, what they have to 

prove is in the face of an unjustifiably high risk of harm that 

is either known or so obvious it should be known that they are 

liable as aiders and abettors.  So, we are not talking about 

negligence, we are not talking about gross negligence, this is 

an order of magnitude above that, that's the scienter 

component.  And the key to the scienter component in terms of 

the discovery that's being sought in this case, your Honor, is 

that recklessness has an objective component and that's the 

Supreme Court that says that and the Safebuilt case that we 

cited, and the Second Circuit affirms that in the Sleighton 

case, 604 F.3d at 776, note 9, and it is that objective 

component that is most relevant here.  The SEC's understanding 

of and discussions around the nature of XRP throughout the 

entire time, as well as Bitcoin and Ether which apparently are 

not securities according to the SEC is relevant to the question 

of whether the allegedly improper aspects of Ripple sales were 
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so obvious that they should have been known by Mr. Garlinghouse 

and Mr. Larsen.  And just to be very concrete about it, your 

Honor, let's say we learn through this discovery that it wasn't 

so obvious to Jay Clayton, or it wasn't so obvious to Bill 

Hinman who ran CorpFin that XRP was or is a security, if we get 

that and we are entitled to look for it before a fact finder, 

that's game over for the SEC under the aiding and abetting 

claim.  And, frankly, their entire case.  That's just one 

illustration of why this discovery is so critical.   

Conscious avoidance is another theory that the SEC has 

put out in addition to recklessness.  That requires that the 

SEC prove the executives deliberately shielded themselves from 

sheer evidence of critical facts that are strongly suggested by 

the circumstances.  This is the Global Tech Appliance case.  

And again, we are going to show in our motion to dismiss which 

will be filed next week, that the SEC has not adequately 

alleged knowledge and recklessness and we believe that Judge 

Torres will ultimately dismiss the aiding and abetting claims 

but until she does, the individual defendants are entitled to 

seek discovery to defend themselves and the SEC has to look.  

They have to search for and produce the requested documents so 

that we can at least have a full and fair opportunity to build 

a defense for the SEC's recklessness and conscious avoidance 

arguments. 

We also have reason to believe, your Honor -- and I am
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not going to belabor it, Mr. Kellogg gave you some examples of

discovery that we have gotten, this is not some fishing

expedition, we have concrete examples of interactions between

sophisticated market players as late as May '19 where the SEC

has engaged in dialogue with those market players and the

actions they took after that dialogue establishes that they

believed, walking away from the meetings with the SEC, that XRP

was not a security.  That's exculpatory.  And we know the SEC

has provided private guidance to other market participants

leading them to understand that XRP was not a security and that

guidance is directly relevant to how the market viewed XRP.

That's the argument under Howey but it is also relevant to

whether it was reckless or intentional to our client to make a

determination themselves where the SEC itself may not have made

a determination or in fact may have believed, up until very

recently, that XRP was not a security, perhaps was more like

Ether, more like Bitcoin.  We are entitled to explore that and

we cited, your Honor, the Kovzan case.  It is a short case,

your has probably already read it.  It is really on all fours

with what is happening here and if you read the underlying

papers for the Kovzan case, the SEC filings, the same arguments

are being made by the SEC there.  This was the case, your

Honor, where the CFO of a public company was charged with

several scienter-based claims based on his involvement in a

perks scheme.  He was alleged to have omitted information on
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proxy statements of perks -- payments -- going to the CEO.  So

it was an omissions case and the Court there stated that the

recklessness component of scienter had an objective component

and that the individual defendant was therefore "entitled to

seek evidence from the SEC related to the industry standard in

relation to what the SEC itself considered to be unlawful

conduct in this area of executive compensation."  And the Court

was very clear that the SEC must produce relevant documents

including those reflecting communications between the SEC and

third-parties because they could reflect -- and again I'm

quoting from a case -- confusion regarding the regulations.

And again, the SEC made the same arguments in Kovzan that it

attempts to make here.  It said there, look, our internal

communications are irrelevant to scienter because the defendant

didn't know about them, but the Court said wait a minute, there

is an objective standard of recklessness so Kovzan is entitled

to this evidence whether or not -- and this is a quote -- "such

evidence was previously known to him or the public."

Now, Mr. Bliss may say, look, Kovzan involved an SEC

regulation.  Here we are talking about the Howey test.  But,

the Court didn't make that qualification and frankly, your

Honor, it is irrelevant in the context of a scienter-based

aiding and abetting claim against the individuals.  In both

cases industry practice and SEC guidance are relevant to the

objective components of the individual defendants'
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recklessness.  In fact, here I think we have a stronger claim

than Mr. Kovzan did because what the SEC is effectively saying

is that Mr. Mr. Garlinghouse and Mr. Larsen didn't correctly

predict that the law would be, in the future, such that XRP

would be deemed, in 2020, to be a security by the SEC.

And we would say the Sentinel case also, your Honor,

as another case where the Court allowed exactly the kind of

discovery that we are seeking here.  So our entitlement, the

individual defendants' entitlement through this discovery isn't

just Howey, what Mr. Kellogg argued, that's an independent

basis when you ought to get discovery, but there is another

basis which is the decision to charge this with reckless

conduct and that's their theory of the case.  They chose to

charge individuals, they chose to do it with scienter-based

conduct despite an obvious lack of clarity.  They're telling

Judge Torres it is a simple case involving a rogue application

of Howey but, your Honor, I don't think anybody perhaps beyond

the SEC litigation team believes this is a separate case.  And,

again, we have seen evidence already of this in the discovery

that's been produced so far.

Again, the SEC has asked us to produce various

documents and they've attached to their letter two examples of

communications from Ripple or its investors that it cites as

evidence that XRP's status as a security should have been

obvious to the defendants.  Well, what we are seeking, your
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Honor, is the inverse of that and we are entitled to it because

we believe that the SEC's statements about XRP, Bitcoin, and

Ether, especially those made to market participants, is

evidence that shows it was much more questionable whether XRP

would ever be classified as a security than the SEC tells this

Court today.

Now, just a couple of final points and I think

Mr. Gertzman will want to make a couple of remarks on behalf of

Mr. Larsen.  I want to address the pandora's box argument,

Mr. Bliss alludes to it but I just want to take it on now

because really it goes to how unusual these circumstances are.

This is not the garden variety Section 5 case.  We are not

dealing with stocks or bonds or orange groves or whiskey drams

or the kind of cases that Courts and markets have considered

and evaluated for 75 years.  And XRP -- Ripple -- is not

like -- again, I'm not talking merits here I am just giving

context what the SEC has brought -- it is not like micro cap

initial coin offerings or ICOs that look just like IPOs.

That's Kik and Telegram.  And they brought enforcement actions

against those entities.  Fine.  But, Mr. Garlinghouse was out

there encouraging the SEC to pursue fraud actions in this space

because that kind of conduct threatens to taint the entire

industry and if this case proceeds there will be evidence of

that.  And Mr. Garlinghouse was talking to regulators, talking

to the public, and talking, indeed, to the SEC itself.  He
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never believed he was doing anything wrong and he wasn't.

So, we are not making a claim of selective enforcement 

here.  You may hear that as well.  The SEC chose not to sue 

someone else for committing fraud so they can't sue us.  All we 

are saying is that the SEC is likely to have communications 

that reflect on whether believing that XRP was not a 

security -- as my client did, as Mr. Larsen did -- was 

reasonable or at least not reckless.  And the SEC knows these 

communications are relevant, it is seeking the same kind of 

communications from us, it is offering up additional discovery, 

your Honor, because I believe it realizes that we are entitled 

to these documents but I have a lot of respect for Mr. Bliss 

and I trust him but, frankly, I don't want him picking or 

anybody in the SEC, picking our custodians.  I think that the 

custodians we offered up is a reasonable number, the right 

people, particularly the commissioners themselves, so we would 

just ask again that that discovery be permitted and that the 

SEC not be permitted to pick and choose what it provides to us.  

We are not permitted to pick and choose what we provide to 

them. 

On Kik and Telegram finally, your Honor, I just want

to be very clear about this.  Again, put the merits aside, this

isn't about the merits but they've offered up discovery on Kik

and Telegram but not an Bitcoin and Ether.  I want to be

perfectly clear about this:  This case is nothing like those
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cases as you pointed out very early on, your Honor.  This is a

huge step beyond what the SEC took on there.  Kik and Telegram

involved initial coin offerings, ICOs.  This doesn't.  The SEC

sought preliminary injunctive relief in those cases to stop

what it believed was an ongoing unregistered offering scheme.

It didn't do it here.  Grams were new, according to Judge

Castel.  XRP isn't new at all.  There was no Telegram

blockchain at the time of the offering.  Not true here.  And

the companies in Kik and Telegram -- and this is critical --

were in privity of contract with the initial purchasers.

Ripple was not.  Digital assets in Kik and Telegram had no

utility.  XRP's technology has been used already to make faster

cheaper and more efficient payments.  But here is the kicker,

and Judge, this is back to where you started with your

questions:  The SEC didn't charge individuals in those cases,

nor in the case that they cited, this Marine Bank case.  No

individuals.  The issue in Kik was whether defendants could

seek discovery into internal SEC documents in support of its

defense that Howey was unconstitutionally vague and Judge

Castel said -- and the Court there said that is an issue of

law, not of fact.  Here, as Mr. Kellogg said with respect to

Howey, these documents speak directly to the fact-intensive

inquiry, specifically the character that XRP was given in

commerce.  You heard Mr. Bliss concede that there is an

objective inquiry to be made here under Howey and there is
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plainly an objective inquiry to be made if you are charging

individuals with recklessness.  And here, your Honor also, the

defendants have raised a fair notice defense, not vague to

avoid this defense.  

So, I just want to be very clear that the ruling in 

Kik on this issue has no bearing on the relevance of the 

requested discovery to defend against the SEC's allegations 

about the individual defendants' scienter.  And, again, these 

are just some of the differences with Kik and Telegram.  There 

are many others. 

So just to conclude, your Honor, if the expert agency

couldn't resolve the question apparently for years on what XRP

was, was it a security?  Is it more like Bitcoin and Ether?  Or

is it more like one of these ICOs that they waited for years to

sort of figure that out, how could it possibly be reckless or

intentional for Mr. Garlinghouse or Mr. Larsen to determine XRP

was not a security?  It can't be.  And that's why this

discovery, independently of everything Mr. Kellogg said about

the Howey test -- those arguments apply to individuals too --

but on this independent basis we need this discovery to defend

ourselves.  If the SEC is prepared to say they're not pursuing

reckless they're not pursuing conscious avoidance maybe we

would be in a different place on this argument but I don't

think they're prepared to say that.

So, for all of those reasons, your Honor, we believe 
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we are entitled to this discovery and we hope the Court orders 

the discovery forthwith so we can make effective use of it to 

defend ourselves in this litigation. 

Thank you.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

Mr. Gertzman, there has been a lot of oxygen spent on

these arguments but if you feel like you have something

particular that is unique as to Mr. Larsen, there is something

that hasn't been raised that is important I will give you the

opportunity to be heard.

MR. GERTZMAN:  Thank you, your Honor, and I appreciate

that and I will be very brief and not repeat or try not to

repeat anything that Mr. Kellogg or Mr. Solomon said, although

I agree and support their points completely.

Just a couple of brief things.  First, Mr. Bliss said

in response to one of your questions early on that there is

nothing about the inclusion of the individual defendants in

this case that makes documents about Bitcoin and Ether

irrelevant in this case.  I don't agree with that, I think it

is incorrect, I think it is incorrect for the reason that your

Honor already pointed out which is it essentially asks this

Court, on an unsupported, naked assertion by the SEC on a

motion to compel, to throw out an entire issue of whether

Bitcoin and Ether are similar and how similar they are to XRP.

But the point I want to make is the point about recklessness in
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this context because the issue of how different or similar XRP

is to Bitcoin and Ether also goes to the issue of recklessness

in the minds of the individual defendants.  And no one is

saying, your Honor, that these three assets are exactly the

same.  How similar they are and how different they is a

critical factor when it comes to the way the defendants are

thinking about this and that's why this discovery is relevant

on the issue of recklessness.

I also want to just drill down a little bit on the

definition of recklessness because I think it helps explain and

show why the discovery we seek here is so critical and

relevant.  This is a term -- recklessness is a term that has

been defined, well-defined by the Courts at this point and the

cases that we cite in our papers including the definition but

the point is that there is an element of recklessness that is

objective.  There is an element that requires the SEC to prove

here that it was so obvious, it would have been so obvious to

Mr. Larsen and Mr. Garlinghouse that XRP was a security that

they were reckless; that they departed so far from ordinary

standards of care on that question that they were reckless.

And the way to think about how to prove or disprove an issue of

recklessness is to look at what's being said and thought about

and done in the marketplace on that issue.  And to use a term

Mr. Kellogg used, he described the SEC as a focal point.  I

think that's a fair characterization, that the SEC has a focal
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point on the issue of whether XRP was a security because it sat

at the center of lots of communications and discussions and

internal review and assessment of that issue.  And so, it is

the logical place to turn to for that evidence because if, in

the end, the evidence from the SEC shows that they were unsure

about whether XRP was a security or that they concluded at

times that it wasn't, then how in the world can Mr. Larsen and

Mr. Garlinghouse be accused of being reckless on that issue?

I also want to make a quick point, your Honor, about

specific allegations in the amended complaint, specifically

paragraphs 55 and 59 of the amended complaint in which the SEC

alleges that Mr. Larsen received legal advice in 2012 that he

should go to the SEC to seek clarity as to whether XRP was a

security.  I am mindful of your Honor's reminder that one of

the documents at issue here is under seal so I won't go into

the substance of the document but there will be a lot to be

said about that document as we go forward because I think the

SEC's allegations in the complaint about that advice really

distort and omit critical compliance and conclusions of that

advice.

The point I want to make on this motion to compel,

your Honor, is that it is really not appropriate and fair for

the SEC in the complaint to take Mr. Larsen to task for not

going to the SEC to ask about whether XRP was a security and

then to tell us, as they are in this motion, sorry, we are not
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going to tell you what we would have told Mr. Larsen about

whether XRP was a security.  We are not going to tell you what

we were thinking and doing and talking about with others on

that issue.  We are just going to criticize you for not going

to us in the first place.  That's not appropriate, your Honor.

They have put in issue the very question of what they were

saying and doing and thinking and talking about when it came to

whether XRP was a security.

The last point I want to make, your Honor, is that it

is really more of a general point that I think it's pretty

obvious that the issues in this case are really important;

they're obviously important to the parties, they are important

to my client and Mr. Garlinghouse who have been accused of

reckless and knowing conduct which is obviously a very serious

allegation.  I think it is fair to say that important segments

of the fintech and cryptocurrency community are watching this

case closely and, ultimately, it is going to be up to the

Court.  And by Court I mean this Court, your Honor, and Judge

Torres, and potentially the Court of Appeals and maybe even the

United States Supreme Court if it comes to that, it is going to

be up to the Court to decide whether XRP is or was a security

or not.  And I just think, given the importance of those issues

and how new an issue this is, how critical it is in the context

of trying to apply this 1933 definition of security and the

1946 Supreme Court Howey definition to the current situation it
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is important that this evidence within the SEC about its

communications with others and its discussions about those

communications, that that not be kept from the Court, it not be

kept out from the record.  The Court can always decide whether

that evidence should be admissible at trial and what weight it

should be given.  But, for that evidence to be ruled out of

discovery in the first place I think is really a distortion in

the face of Rule 26 so we would ask the Court to grant the

motion to compel.

I am happy to answer any questions you may have. 

THE COURT:  Great.  Thank you.

Mr. Bliss, if you want to take five minutes to respond

to anything in particular I am happy to give that to you.

MR. BLISS:  Yes.  Thank you, your Honor.  I appreciate

that, because in listening to various different counsel's

statements it is really remarkable to hear that what really

underlies a lot of their request is this claim that action or

inaction by the SEC has somehow led the markets to believe

something about XRP as far as its status as a security.

Since 1946 there has never been a case saying that

some action or inaction by the SEC influences how the market

views an instrument.  They don't cite one.  It doesn't exist.

The actions of the promoter are what needs to be the focus

here.  And so, to try to put the SEC on trial is totally

inappropriate based on decades of law.  And it is clear, in
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listening to the various defense counsel assert that they think

that the discovery would somehow show that the SEC was flailing

or was confused is, again, remarkable.  The SEC acts pursuant

to its statutory authority.  It investigates.  It issues

enforcement actions.  It issues no action letters.  That's how

it operates.  And so, the idea that because it took X number of

years from the time XRP existed to get an enforcement action

somehow opens the kimono to total and complete discovery inside

the SEC is really a remarkable position for the Defense to be

advocating and it is not supported.  And specifically, on the

point that was suggested by Mr. Solomon that the SEC

individuals are somehow giving comfort to market participants

in SEC meetings that XRP is not a security, again, that is not

how the SEC operates.  In this case the SEC took time,

completed an investigation, filed an enforcement action.  And

so, allowing discovery into the SEC's internal and deliberative

communications would have a chilling effect on every federal

agency.  If agency employees' communications were subject to

discovery, every time an agency filed an enforcement action in

which the defendant challenged the clarity of the law or the

defendant's understanding of it or the timing of the action, it

would derail federal agency litigation from being focused on

the conduct of the defendants to being about the conduct of the

government and its officials.  It would also open the door to

discovery far beyond the issues in the filed regulatory
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actions.  Here it would involve the complicating factor of

opening the door to discovery from Ripple's own counsel who

were the chair of the SEC and the head of the Division of

Enforcement for several years of the relevant period in this

case when defense counsel now apparently claims that the SEC

gave the market some impression of XRP during the time that it

took to file the action.  And the improper breadth of the

discovery, it was further demonstrated today in terms of the

discussion of Mr. Clayton and a subpoena that was sent last

week to the former SEC's Chair's new place of employment for

documents and communications from while he was the Chair about

XRP and other digital assets.

So, there is just no basis to allow defendants to put 

the SEC and its commissioners and its staff on trial for 

operating in the way that it does.   

And, specifically on the point of the Kovzan case, 

Mr. Solomon correctly identified that that case and any of the 

few cases they cited that grant some type of SEC internal 

discovery are about situations in which the SEC has promulgated 

rules and interpretation of those rules.  Every one of the 

cases that they cite that's the case.  And this is not the case 

here.  The Howey test is for federal court interpretation and 

has been out there since 1946, it is not about an SEC rule that 

has been implemented. 

And, I also think it is important to go back to the
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speech by Mr. Hinman that has been referenced several times

now.  This was not an official position of the SEC commissioner

itself but it is important that in 2018 Mr. Hinman gave a

speech not about XRP but about digital assets generally.  He

said -- to quote that speech which is publicly available on the

SEC's website -- "The digital asset itself is simply code but

the way it is sold as part of an investment to non-users by

promoters to develop the enterprise can be, and in that

context, most often is a security because it evidences an

investment contract."  He contrasted that to Bitcoin:  "When I

look at Bitcoin today, I do not see a central third-party whose

efforts are a key to determining the factor in the enterprise."

But here Ripple is doing exactly what Mr. Hinman said makes a

digital asset a security:  Acting as a central party promoting

XRP as an investment.  And notably, as of June 2018 when

Mr. Hinman made that speech, there was no use for XRP other

than investment.  As we alleged in the complaint, paragraphs

362 to 364, it wasn't until October 2018 that Ripple

commercially launched any use for XRP.  And, even since then,

that use has been minimal accounting for no more than 1.6

percent of XRP's trading volume during any given quarter.  So,

at the time of Mr. Hinman's speech, Ripple had been conducting

an ongoing offering for five years during which time XRP was

offered and sold as an investment with no current use at all.

And, to the extent the defendants now wish to feign confusion
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about the time at which Mr. Hinman made those remarks in 2018,

Ripple was under investigation by the SEC at the time of that

speech.  That speech could not have provided any comfort or

confusion to the defendants about the status of XRP at that

time.

With that, I am happy to answer any questions.

THE COURT:  Just a quick clarifying question.  You

distinguish the speech, Mr. Hinman's speech suggesting it was

not a pronouncement but rather just a speech that referenced

Bitcoin and so is it -- does the SEC take a position that as of

a certain date its position was official as to Bitcoin and

Ether?

MR. BLISS:  So I want to make clear that this is my

understanding of the current situation and I don't want to be

overly technical but the SEC, itself, my understanding, it has

not taken an official position.  There is no action that it

took to say Bitcoin is not a security, Ether is not a security.

Now, there was a speech by a high-ranking person who said that

to him that's what it looked like but there has been no action

letter, no enforcement action, none of the official ways in

which the SEC takes a position on that matter that has

occurred.  What I understand defendants to be referencing is

the speech by Mr. Hinman which is not an official statement of

the Securities and Exchange Commission itself.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.  I appreciate that
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clarity.

Okay.  Thank you everybody for your arguments.  I

appreciate them.  As I have come to expect from this group of

lawyers, they were excellent and the papers that you submitted

as well were excellent.  And I recognize that this is

high-stakes litigation and that people are quite invested in

the outcome of the issues including the individual defendants

who face serious individual liability.

I have reviewed the letters and have listened 

carefully to the argument.  I am going to grant, in large part, 

the defendant's motion.  I think that the discovery related to 

Bitcoin and Ether is relevant.  I think it is relevant to the 

Court's eventual analysis with respect to the Howey factors, 

but I also think it is relevant as to the objective review of 

defendants' understanding in thinking about the aiding and 

abetting charge or aiding and abetting count.  I also think it 

is relevant to the fair notice defense that Ripple is raising.  

So, for all of those reasons, I think discovery into Bitcoin 

and Ether is appropriate and I am going to authorize it.  I am 

going to authorize discovery both as to exclusively Bitcoin or 

Ether communications as well as XRP communications between the 

SEC and third-parties, and by that I am excluding all market 

participants and the other government agencies.  I am not 

including SEC-to-SEC internal communications in that ruling.  

And so, the SEC is obligated to review the discovery request.  
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I am just looking at the actual requests themselves.  I know we 

have been talking about requests 4, 7, 8, 11, and 14.  Search 

all of the relevant repositories for documents and discovery 

related to communications to third-parties.  In addition, I am 

ordering that discovery be conducted of all 19 custodians.  I 

don't think that the SEC's arguments, as set forth within their 

letters and again today, are a legitimate basis given the 

relevancy standard to preclude discovery here.  19 custodians 

for an incredibly high-stakes, high-value litigation is not 

unreasonable, and given the three different categories of 

grounds not to produce documents, I don't think that that is a 

legitimate basis so I am going to direct that the SEC search 

all 19 custodians for relevant and responsive documents. 

I am going to deny in part the request for discovery

that is internal, and specifically internal, for instance

e-mail communications between what I will call the SEC staff to

SEC staff.  I think that that communication both is less

relevant as it goes to how the outside world -- how the market

is considering XRP and how the individual defendants, how it

affects their reasonable belief, and I also think that there

are likely to be extensive privilege issues there and I think

it has the potential to seriously chill government

deliberations and so I am not going to require communications

to be produced that are internal e-mail communications within

the agency.  If you want the parties to meet and confer -- and
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this will betray some of my ignorance as to how the SEC may

operate -- to the extent there are relevant minutes or more

official internal memos on these areas of discovery that I am

authorizing, both the Bitcoin and Ether discovery as well as

the XRP discovery, I want the parties to meet and confer on

whether those should be produced.  So, my limitation now is

just as to e-mail communications, the sort of everyday, more

informal communications that I think would not be appropriate

for discovery here.  But, to the extent internally there are

memos being sent up to higher-ranking officials expressing the

agency's interpretation or views on these matters, those types

of documents may be discoverable but I will direct that the

parties meet and confer with respect to that.  Obviously to the

extent in producing these documents there are documents that

are privileged, the SEC certainly has the right and obligation

to identify privileged documents and produce the privilege log

and the parties are ordered to meet and confer on that

privilege assertion and if you can't reach a resolution you can

obviously bring that dispute to me.

All right.  That is my ruling on the motion.  Anything

further from the SEC?

MR. BLISS:  No, your Honor.  Thank you.

THE COURT:  Anything further from the defendants?

MR. KELLOGG:  Nothing from Ripple left, your Honor.

Thank you.
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MR. SOLOMON:  Nothing from Mr. Garlinghouse.  Thank

you.

MR. GERTZMAN:  Nothing from Mr. Larsen right now.

Thank you, your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right everybody.  Stay safe.  Thank

you very much.  

We are adjourned. 

o0o  
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(Case called; The Court and all parties appearing 

telephonically) 

THE DEPUTY CLERK:  Starting with plaintiff Securities

and Exchange Commission, could you please state your

appearances for the record?

MS. STEWART:  Good afternoon, your Honor.  This is

Ladan Stewart for the SEC.  On the line today from the SEC are

Jorge Tenreiro, Mark Sylvester, Ben Hanauer, Daphna Waxman, and

John Daniels.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Good afternoon.

Who do we have on behalf of Ripple Labs? 

MR. RAPAWY:  This is Gregory Rapawy for defendant

Ripple Labs, your Honor.  With me on the line is Reid Figel,

and I believe some additional appearances have been provided to

the court reporter.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Anybody else on behalf of

Ripple Labs want to state their appearance if they intend to be

speaking?  Mr. Ceresney, my notes suggest that you might be

speaking.  OK.

And on behalf of Mr. Larsen.

MR. FLUMENBAUM:  On behalf of Mr. Larsen this is Marty

Flumenbaum from Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison.  With

me on the line are Mike Gertzman, Kristina Bunting and Justin

Ward.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Good afternoon.
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And on behalf of Mr. Garlinghouse?

MR. SOLOMON:  Good afternoon, your Honor.  It is

Matthew Solomon on behalf of Mr. Garlinghouse, and with me on

the line are Nicole Tatz, Sam Levander, Alexander Janghorbani

and Nowell Bamberger.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

Good afternoon to everyone.  I hope everybody is

healthy and safe.  We are continuing to conduct these

proceedings remotely by telephone because of the pandemic.  I

want to remind everybody that for those people who are calling

in from the public, that it is a violation of the Court's

orders and rules and practices to record or rebroadcast any

portion of today's proceeding.  I know that that has been a

problem in the past and we continue to investigate that, but it

is in fact unlawful to record and rebroadcast the proceedings.

So, I will direct everyone that they are not permitted to do so

and that if we learn that today's proceeding has in fact been

recorded and rebroadcasted, that we will notify United States

Marshal's service who will conduct an investigation.

We have a court reporter on the line.  I mention that 

for a number of reasons.  First, she will be in charge of 

creating an official record which she will create and will 

publish.  And, for the lawyers, just a reminder that each and 

every time you speak, if you can state your name clearly so 

that the court reporter can attribute your statements to you.  
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And, please, make every effort both to speak slowly, especially 

if you are going to be reading anything, please, speak slowly.  

And, also, just be sensitive to other speakers so that we don't 

have people speaking over one another.  Those are the 

housekeeping matters for today. 

So, we are here on an application from the SEC, it was

filed on June 24th, I have that letter seeking to quash the

subpoena served on the former director of the Division of

Corporation Finance, Mr. Hinman, and I have the opposition to

that letter application filed on July 1st by the defendants,

and the SEC's reply letter filed on July 8th, all of which I

have read.

So, this is the SEC's application so why don't I turn

first to Ms. Stewart.

MS. STEWART:  Yes.  Thank you, your Honor.

THE COURT:  Go ahead.

MS. STEWART:  The exceptional circumstances doctrine

articulated by Lederman goes back 80 years.  There are very

important tactical and policy reasons behind this doctrine and

why it has held up for 80 years.  With government resources

already scarce and the government already having to compete

with private industry for qualified individuals who are willing

to serve the public, it is important that public officials be

able to do the job the public needs them to do.  But, if public

officials are spending their time testifying in every
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government enforcement action in which they had any

involvement, and doing so years after they leave public office,

there will be two important chilling effects as the cases we

cite in our papers have noted.

First, these officials will be less likely to engage

in open deliberations within their agencies if they think they

will be likely to have to testify about every such

deliberation.  And, relatedly, and just as importantly, they

will be less likely to engage with the public, whether it is

through speeches, conferences, or informal meetings with market

participants.  These types of interactions are important to the

functioning of many government agencies including the SEC.

Again, if these officials have to fear being called to testify

about every such interaction, they'll be less likely to engage

in them.

The second chilling effect, which is also important,

would be the very retention of qualified individuals to serve

in these roles.  As your Honor noted in the 911 case that we

cite in our papers, subjecting former officials'

decision-making processes to judicial scrutiny and the

possibility of continued participation in lawsuits years after

leaving public office would serve as a significant deterrent to

qualified candidates for public service.  Again, this is an

equally important consideration.  The government needs

qualified people and depositions -- like the one defendants are
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after -- deters qualified candidates from serving the public.

Now, defendants dismiss these points as a parade of

horribles but this is not some abstract thing, it is a very

real issue.  This is not the first time a defendant in an SEC

enforcement action has tried to depose an SEC division

director.  The defendants in SEC V. Kik tried to depose

Director Mr. Hinman himself and Judge Hellerstein quashed their

efforts.  The defendants in SEC v. Navellier tried to depose

the then director enforcement at the SEC and the district court

in Massachusetts quashed that subpoena as well.

The SEC is not aware of any case where a current or 

former SEC director was forced to testify and defendants have 

not come forward with any such case.  So, if the Court allows 

this deposition to go forward not only would it be making new 

law but it would be opening the floodgates to many, many more 

such subpoenas in this case and beyond.   

First, there is little doubt that defendants would 

seek to depose other current and former SEC officials including 

Former Chairman Jay Clayton whose firm is already subpoenaed 

for documents.  In fact, of the 11 witnesses in Ripple's 

initial disclosures, four are current or former SEC officials 

including Director Hinman.  And, the fact that the individual 

defendants have another 90-day discovery window means they'll 

have a second chance to try to depose additional SEC officials 

even if they don't do it in the current discovery period. 
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Second, a decision in this case allowing Director

Hinman's deposition would also expose him and many other

current and former SEC officials to serial depositions in

current and future enforcement matters.  I want to pause here

to note something that your Honor mentioned in the 911 case

that I mentioned a minute ago.  In that case, when your Honor

was applying Lederman to former officials of a foreign

government, one of the factors the Court noted in allowing

those depositions to go forward was that there was "no

likelihood of serial abusive litigation."  That's on page 14 of

your opinion.  Here, by contrast, there is every likelihood of

serial abuse of litigation against Director Hinman and against

other SEC division directors and high-level officials and even

SEC commissioners.

Third, the ripple effect of this serial abuse of

litigation would not be limited to the SEC, it would almost

certainly extend to other government agencies.  There is little

doubt that a decision by this Court to allow this deposition

will be cited by dozens if not hundreds of defendants in

enforcement actions for years to come.  This would expose

countless government officials, them and their agencies, with

dealing depositions instead of doling the people's work.  And,

it would chill agency deliberations both internally and with

the public.  And also importantly, as I mentioned, it would

deter qualified individuals from joining public service.
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Again, these aren't hypothetical or abstract issues, they're

very, very real and their impact on the functioning of

government would be very real.

So, this particular subpoena has to be viewed in light 

of these broader concerns.  This is not just about Bill Hinman 

in this one litigation, this is about Bill Hinman and countless 

other SEC officials and countless other government officials in 

countless other litigations.  This is serial and abusive, in 

your Honor's words. 

When viewed from this broad lens, it is not difficult

to understand the significant repercussions from the subpoena

on the functioning of the SEC and other agencies and this is

why the burden on defendants here is so high to show

exceptional circumstances and they have not done that.

I will pause now, your Honor.  I am happy, your Honor, 

to go through more detail on why we believe the burden has not 

been met on the specific topics that they seek to depose 

Mr. Hinman on but I wanted to pause to see if your Honor had 

any questions before I do that. 

THE COURT:  Thank you.  I do.

I would like to focus on what I think is the biggest

issue here which is the 2018 speech.  I do think that that is a

unique fact that probably doesn't present itself in every

enforcement action that the SEC brings, though I do think your

concerns about the effects of requiring Mr. Hinman to be
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deposed are legitimate but I do want to focus on this speech.

In part, I want to move to the next prong of the analysis and

talk about how the government is defining the speech and what

you think are the reasons why it would be inappropriate to

require him to sit for the deposition and I will try and be a

little bit more precise.

As I understand it, when Mr. Hinman gave that speech

he stated clearly at the time that these were his own personal

views and not the views of the SEC.  So, I am wondering if you

can help me reconcile what I perceive as tension between a

speech that he gives as a senior person within the SEC but that

he gives on his own behalf and expressing only his own views,

and a view that his being asked to answer questions about that

speech might somehow interfere with the deliberative process

privilege.

MS. STEWART:  Sure.  I am happy to, your Honor.

Again, this is Ladan Stewart for the SEC.

So, speaking more generally about the speech, the

speech is publicly available on the SEC's website.  The SEC

doesn't contest its authenticity.  Director Hinman notes in his

declaration that he gave the speech so none of this is in

dispute and the SEC is willing to stipulate to all of that,

which is to say the speech is a speech.

Now, going to your Honor's specific question about 

possibly there being tension between Mr. Hinman having given 
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this speech in his personal capacity expressing his personal 

opinions and any deliberative process protection.  So, 

respectfully, your Honor, we don't think that any such tension 

exists.  Director Hinman, and any SEC official who makes public 

remarks, included in the process of crafting those remarks are 

deliberations within the agency.  Here, as we have, we have 

already produced to defendants a privilege log showing the back 

and forth communications about drafts of Director Hinman's 

speech showing that the speech was reviewed by others within 

the Commission.  At the time the speech was given the 

Commission had not expressed any position on whether Ether was 

a security or I should say whether offer and sales of Ether 

were securities.  So, by definition, any discussion that 

Director Hinman was having with others at the Commission about 

the issues in his speech were pre-decisional and therefore 

deliberative process would apply and cover those 

communications.  There is also -- 

THE COURT:  Can I interrupt for one second?  Sorry to

interrupt you.

Pre-decisional suggests that there was then a decision

made so what is the decision for which these communications

would be pre-decisional?

MS. STEWART:  So, I think the case law on deliberative

process is actually pretty clear that there doesn't need to

have been a decision made.  A lot of times -- and I think the
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Fish & Wildlife case that we cite talks about this.  A lot of

times there are deliberations with agencies that end up going

nowhere so a final decision is not made but that doesn't move

the deliberative process protection from the pre-decisional

communication even if no final decision has been made.

I would add, your Honor, that we have an additional 

case that we did not cite in our letters and we found this case 

after we filed our letters and we apologize for not having 

included it but we think it goes to your precise question of 

whether Mr. Hinman's own opinions are covered by the 

deliberative process privilege and this case says that they are 

and the case is SEC v. Nacchio and the cite is 2009 Westlaw 

211511, and this is a District of Colorado decision from 

January 29th of 2009. 

Another thing I want to note here is that it is very

routine and commonplace in the government for officials to give

speeches, to speak at conferences, to teach CLE courses and the

like, and so in this sense the speech that Director Hinman gave

is not something that is unique.  It happens all the time

within the SEC and within other government agencies and, as

Director Hinman did, officials at the SEC and other agencies

routinely qualify their remarks by making sure that the

audience understands that they reflect their own views and not

the view of the Agency in order to ensure that the public is

clear about who really is speaking because, as we told you in
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prior letters and prior arguments, the SEC speaks in certain

ways -- it speaks through enforcement actions, it speaks

through no action letters, it speaks through very formal and

particular ways and it cannot speak through the words of its

staff even and even its commissioners.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

Can you remind me what you are citing the Nacchio case

for?  For what proposition?

MS. STEWART:  For the proposition that the

deliberative process privilege would cover Director Hinman's

personal opinions that he delivered in his speech.  And,

generally, it is a helpful case on deliberative process more

generally and on speeches given by SEC officials but that goes

directly to the question that your Honor raised.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Anything further?  Or I will

turn to it Mr. Rapawy.

MS. STEWART:  I am happy, your Honor, to talk about if

there are any other parts of our letter that you have certain

questions on but I would like to just really point out that

when it comes to the information that defendants want to get

from Mr. Hinman about sort of the deliberations around the

speech, there really are major issues with this kind of

exercise under Lederman and the case that we cite in our

papers, the SEC v. The Commission on Ways and Means case is

really on point there and it points out that Morgan and its
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progeny make clear that exceptional circumstances, that the

doctrine is premised on the notion that high-ranking officials

should not be required to testify regarding their official

decision making processes and that's exactly what defendants

are trying to get from Director Hinman here, they're trying to

get him to testify about the decision-making process of the SEC

about the speech or about anything else that has to do with

BitCoin, Ether, and that is just not exceptional circumstances

under Lederman and it is precisely what Lederman and Morgan

were trying to avoid.  And related to that is that questions

about this type of decision-making process are subject to the

deliberative process privilege, as I mentioned a moment ago.

At the time that Director Hinman gave his speech, the SEC had

not made a final determination about the regulatory status of

Ether so, as I mentioned, any such conversation would be

pre-decisional under the Supreme Court precedent Fish &

Wildlife and earlier cases.

So, you know, what really defendants are trying to do 

here is to question Mr. Hinman about protected, privileged 

information and defendants say, well, the SEC can object to 

protective privilege and then we can get a record and we can 

come back before the Court, but the point here is that deposing 

a senior government official about the agency's deliberate 

process is not an exceptional circumstance that justifies that 

deposition.  We are not here asking the Court to rule on the 
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privilege issues but, practically speaking, defendants wouldn't 

get information from Director Hinman that they can't get and 

have not already gotten from the SEC as I mentioned threw our 

priv log logs that we have already provided to them and they're 

not going to be able to get information beyond that in a 

deposition, information beyond who Director Hinman spoke to and 

the date of that conversation because the SEC will object to 

any attempt to get into the substance of those discussions.   

So, this is sort of a practical point but it also goes 

to the larger question of it cannot be an exceptional 

circumstance to depose a government official to test the 

contour of the agency's privilege especially when there are 

many other avenues open to defendants to do so. 

So, with that I will stop, but I'm happy to answer

questions and any other points in our letters that your Honor

has.

THE COURT:  I do have a question.  Do you believe the

deliberative process privilege would be invoked or at play if

Mr. Hinman was deposed and asked questions like:  Why do you

think Ether doesn't fall into the definition of investment

contract?  Why do you think this?  Do you think that would

invoke the deliberative process privilege and, if so, why?

MS. STEWART:  This is Ladan Stewart again.  

Yes.  Absolutely, your Honor.  We think that those 

types of questions would invoke the SEC's deliberative process.  
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It is difficult to imagine that Director Hinman would be able 

to answer those types of questions without invoking information 

that he learned from other SEC personnel in a kind of 

pre-decisional and deliberative setting.  There were 

conversations, all types of communications among the SEC staff, 

SEC divisions about not just Ether but other digital assets.  

And so, while his final opinion on that as he reflected in his 

speech in 2018 may be public, again, the speech is what it is.  

His opinion is what it is, it is already reflected in his 

speech.  But, a defendant would not be able to get anything 

beyond that from him on his opinion or his discussions with 

other SEC officials about their opinions under the deliberative 

process privilege. 

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Let me turn to defendant.

MR. RAPAWY:  Thank you, your Honor.  Gregory Rapawy

for Ripple.

The SEC has failed to establish that it is entitled to

the extraordinary relief of quashing a deposition subpoena

directed to its former employee.  And we do not believe we have

any burden to show a special need for this deposition because

this witness, Mr. William Hinman, was never at the apex of any

governmental unit and, as of today, he has no governmental

responsibilities at all.  But if we did have to make that

showing he does have firsthand knowledge of industry

perceptions of digital assets and of their regulatory status
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because he knows firsthand about the communication that he had

with industry participants about whether digital assets were

securities, and he also knows firsthand about communications in

which we believe those industry participants expressed

confusion as of 2018 about how the federal securities laws

would or should apply to digital assets.  And he has that

personal knowledge because he spoke with people outside the

agency both before and after he gave the speech -- to which

your Honor referred, frequently referred to as the Hinman

speech -- in June 2018 about how the federal securities laws

apply to digital assets.  And we think that the circumstances,

the significance, and the impact of that speech are all

directly relevant to the SEC's claims and to our defenses.  We

need to depose Mr. Hinman to develop the facts about

perceptions in the marketplace that he was trying to respond to

with his attempt to revise guidance in that speech.  Whether he

was successful in clarifying matters or not, that was clearly

his intent.

In general --

THE COURT:  Why do you say that was clearly his

intent?

MR. RAPAWY:  I think because that is a reasonable

inference from the speech itself and also from the fact that

the SEC later held it out to Congress -- the chairman said to

Congress and said that the Agency has been transparent on its
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application of the Howey criteria, the digital assets -- I am

paraphrasing but the exact quote is in our letter.  And I also

think that when the Agency's Office of Investor Education

points investors to the speech that is also a showing of the

intent that the speech was to provide guidance, not to present

his personal views in some kind of abstract academic context,

not to just have fun talking about an interesting issue.  It is

an interesting issue but that's not why he was giving a speech.

He was giving a speech because the industry was asking for

guidance and he was providing it with, admittedly, a disclaimer

that the SEC wasn't going to be bound by that guidance.  But

the existence of that --

THE COURT:  If your view is that the speech reflects

Agency guidance -- I think is what you just said -- then why

wouldn't the discussions that led up to that speech be covered

under the deliberative process privilege?

MR. RAPAWY:  Well, I have two answers to that, your

Honor.  The first thing is we want to take this in steps in

part to determine whether this speech was adopted or approved

by the SEC.  Now, they have denied that.  It is a contested

issue, a contested factual issue in this case whether this

speech was ever adopted or approved by the SEC and we would

like to establish that one way or the other.  If it was, then

that really heightens the impact of that speech for Ripple's

fair notice event and for the individual's state of mind -- not
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defenses exactly but contesting the SEC's ability to prove

their state of mind at trial.  On the other hand, if it was

only his personal views, as the SEC contends then, as your

Honor suggested, we can still explore facts about this speech

that wouldn't be covered by deliberate process and we can use

it as evidence to what was thought about the status of the

digital assets in 2018.  Either way, whichever way that

ultimate question comes down, there are relevant non-privileged

questions that we can ask.  And to the extent that there are

any privilege issues to be raised in this case, I think that

they need to be decided on the record that would be created by

the deposition itself.

Now, Nacchio, as Ms. Stewart pointed out, was not 

cited in the papers but I tried to pull it up really quickly 

and I haven't had a chance to read through it fully, but it 

does appear that the deposition did take in Nacchio and they 

raised the deliberative process question on a 

question-by-question basis and then the Court considered those 

questions on the record that had been made at the deposition 

which is exactly the process that we propose should be followed 

here.   

And I will also -- I am jumping ahead a little bit but 

I also think that the SEC conceded in its reply that the 

communications with third-parties, which are a big part of what 

we are interested in in this case, would not themselves be 
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privileged.  That's on page 4 of their letter.  Communications 

with third-parties they described as a non-privileged area of 

inquiry.  So, that at least we can ask him; we think it is 

relevant, highly material, and something of which he has 

personal knowledge. 

I would like to touch on the legal questions relating

to whether he qualifies as high-ranking or official in the

first place.  I know your Honor is familiar with the law in

this area, but as we see the case, there is no dispute that

Mr. Hinman was never at the apex of the SEC.  He headed a

division within the SEC, one of six divisions in the SEC, and

he was less senior than the chairman, less senior than the four

other commissioners and a peer of, depending on how you count,

a dozen or two dozen other people.  And there are no that many

officials at the apex of a governmental unit.  And with respect

to Mr. Hinman specifically, the Division of Corporate Finance

undoubtedly does important work, he had about 400 people

reporting to him, the SEC as a whole had about 4,200 employees.

A person who supervises one tenth of the agency's work force is

not at the agency's apex and we submit that's the test.

We don't agree that the analysis should proceed at the 

level of a subdepartment or a subdivision of an agency.  That 

is not how the Court applied the test in the Ways & Means case 

which is cited in the papers where the individual was the 

director of a staff or subcommittee but not high-ranking 
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official in the context of Congress which was the relevant 

governmental unit.   

It is also not how the Court applied the test in the 

terrorist attack case where the Court asked whether the 

individuals were high-ranking -- ambassadors count as 

high-ranking and ministers count as high-ranking but the 

cultural attache for Saudi Arabia to the United States who runs 

a subdivision of the embassy of Saudi Arabia to the United 

States -- the Saudi Arabian Cultural Mission -- was not high 

ranking.   

So, we think that those cases are the best reasoned 

authority on this subject and they support our view that you 

look at the status within the agency as a whole rather than the 

status within a sub. 

I also want to emphasize the point that Mr. Hinman is

also a former rather than a current SEC official and that is

not dispositive.  Former officials get some protection but it

is significant, and to the extent that the Court is doing any

kind of balancing or weighing of interest, we think it is very

important.  You will not be distracted from any current duties

he is performing on behalf of the public.  He has no current

duties on behalf of the public.  The only policy -- and, by the

way, he has not moved to quash his subpoena in his personal

capacity so undue burden on him as individual witness is also

not before the Court.  The only burden that is really
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cognizable in this context is the attenuated concern that if

this sort of thing became routine it would be a problem getting

qualified people to serve.  And that's certainly a factor that

Courts have considered but we do think this is an unusual and

exceptional case and we don't think it is run of the mill and

we don't think that a decision requiring him to testify would

cause anyone who was thinking about whether to take the job of

SEC division director would think, Gosh, if I do this and I

give a really important speech, someone might want to ask me

questions about it years later.  I don't think that's a

plausible scenario in which the government has legitimate

interests that are at stake.

Going to the question of firsthand knowledge, because

although I think that, as your Honor sort of suggested that the

Hinman speech was the crux of the personal knowledge in this

case but it is not the only thing we want to ask about, it is

not the only thing that we have a basis to believe that

Mr. Hinman has personal, relevant, unique firsthand knowledge

of.  We think that there are a number of situations leading up

to but really for the entire year surrounding that June 2018

speech, I would put it from about March 2018 to March 2019, he

had a number of communications with individuals in the

marketplace where people are coming and we believe -- we don't

know what happened because we haven't asked the questions

yet -- we believe that they were either asking for guidance or
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presenting their views to people in the marketplace as to

inform players in the industry as to the status of these

digital assets and those are relevant for multiple, several

reasons.  One is that if people are coming in and expressing

widespread view in the industry that when you buy digital

assets, a piece of code itself is not a contract or an

investment contract, that that's relevant to how Ripple's XRP

was held out in the marketplace which goes to the question of

whether it was an investment contract under Howey or under the

Securities Act generally.

Second, if those individuals were coming in and

expressing confusion about whether and when digital assets

could be regulated as securities, people said that and he

remembers it, or he can tell us who the people were who came in

and said to him that they were confused about these issues,

then would be relevant both Ripple's fair notice defense and

would also be relevant to the individual states of mind.  Now,

we have cited some examples of communications we wanted to ask

about in the letter and those are under seal because they

involve documents that the SEC designated as confidential.

I know I am talking a little fast here.  I want to 

pause and ask if your Honor has any questions. 

THE COURT:  No, I'm following you.

MR. RAPAWY:  OK.

So, but we did reach out to the SEC, we are going to
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try to narrow those redactions and get something with more

disclosure on the docket in the near future.  They said that

did they did not object to the disclosure of the individuals

and entities that communicated with Mr. Hinman or the general

subject matter of those conversations.  So, on that basis, I

want to point out the fact that leading up to that June 2018

speech he met personally with the founder of the Ethereum

Foundation, and also with representatives of ConsenSys, a

leading software development company for Ether.  And so those,

and we believe other conversations -- we don't know all of the

conversations because we have not been able, through discovery,

to get a complete list -- are among the matters that we think

we would like to ask him about and that he has personal

knowledge of.  He was a focal point for these conversations in

the industry in a way that no other individual was and I would

like to sort of, on that point, to address the question

couldn't we get it from the third-parties?  Because I know that

is a point that the SEC raised in its letter that is something

that might be on your Honor's mind.  And the answer is for some

of them we can and we are trying, but we don't know who all the

third-parties were.  We believe he had more conversations with

more people than we have been able to determine and he is the

one person who can tell us which of those conversations

happened, which of those conversations were substantive, and

even to the extent that his own recollections of those
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conversations were not relevant evidence -- and we believe they

are -- we can then go on to seek further discovery from those

third-parties and focus our efforts on the places where we can

actually find this evidence that we need for our case.

THE COURT:  On that, Mr. Rapawy, on that point, if you

were coming to me and saying we need to depose this person

because we need to know who he spoke to in these meetings, I

would say to you there are definitely easier and less intrusive

ways to get that information, presumably Mr. Hinman had a chief

of staff or a deputy who participated in those meetings.  I

suspect knowing nothing about Mr. Hinman's practices but

knowing something about how high-level government officials

act, that he wasn't meeting with these people on his own; or

you could get his calendar which, as a government official is

almost certainly preserved, know who he is meeting with.

So, on that cause I don't know why that would be a 

basis in and of itself why that sort of information would 

justify a deposition. 

MR. RAPAWY:  Well, I don't know, your Honor, whether

there was any one particular person who was with him in all of

these conversations.  We have just very recently, in fact last

night, gotten a privilege log from the SEC that describes some

communications that may have been relevant to these discussions

that he had.  So, I am not sure that it would be as easy to do

as your Honor is suggesting but I take your point but there is
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some of that that we can do through other means.  I do think it

is, insofar as you are weighing the equities as to this

deposition as a whole, that the ability to ask him who he had

these conversations with, conversations that he invited people

to come in and have with him personally, he probably is the

single best source of information for that and so I think it's

at least a legitimate thing that we plan to get out of this

deposition in addition to discussing specifically the speech

with him.

I also think he is uniquely situated to help us

develop the facts that will go to -- and I alluded to this

point earlier -- whether the speech is, itself, ever was

adopted or approved by the SEC which I think will significantly

affect its admissibility at trial or on summary judgment and

the probative weight that a fact finder would accord to it.  I

do think that we have accomplished some facts to support that

so far, the fact that the chairman said it to Congress, the

fact that the Office of Investor Education put it out there.

But, that said, I think that this is going to be hotly

contested and we need everything we can get and he is going to

be a significant, firsthand, unique source of knowledge about

the circumstances surrounding that speech and whether it was

intended to be taken as the views of the Agency and because of

his involvement in considerations after the speech whether it

was received that way.  Because I think it would be relevant to
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the fair notice defense and to the individual states of mind if

it was taken as guidance, if people told him they were

understanding it as guidance even if he maintained, as a formal

matter, that it was not the views of the agency.

Actually, I would like to make one further point on

the question of what happens if the speech itself was the

agency action or the agency decision, which is if the speech

itself were the agency decision, it would still, communications

after the speech would then be post-decisional and we can get

discovery of post-decisional discussions under the deliberative

process privilege doctrine as discussed I believe in the Sears

Roebuck case that is cited in the Fish & Wildlife case.  So,

even if you were to assume for assume that is for purposes of

analysis that it were a decision we could still have the

conversations afterwards where people told him how the industry

reacted to it.

I feel like I have covered most of the topics that I

planned to address.  I did want to say with regard to the Fish

& Wildlife decision, in particular, that I think that case can

be fairly read to say that the agency never has to reach a

final decision.  In that case there was a draft biological

opinion, it never got to be a final biological opinion.  I

guess the agency decided not to issue a final biological

opinion and the decisions leading up to the draft were still

privileged but I don't think it permits what counsel for the
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SEC, with respect, is trying to do here which is to say

decisions are pre-decisional, if there is any possibility that

the agency could someday make a decision, which they claim they

hadn't as of 2020, therefore everything gets cloaked going back

years because of the possibility that maybe someday they would

say something about Ether that they admit is actually agency

statement.  

I do expect we will contest the applicability of the 

deliberative process privilege.  I think that should be done on 

a full record after the deposition, as it was done in Nacchio.  

And, I also think that one thing one thing your Honor has not 

seen in their letters is any communication that the assertion 

of the deliberative process privilege has been authorized at 

the appropriate agency level, it has to be done by someone 

quite senior, and I would refer your Honor to the citations in 

our April 20th letter which is ECF No. 142 at page 4 on that 

point. 

Finally, your Honor, I would like to spend a moment on

the sort of general policy concerns that Ms. Stewart started

with at the outset of her argument and the sort of uniqueness

of this case.

This is not an ordinary case.  This is a case where

the SEC is asserting, in litigation for the first time, that a

previously unregulated digital asset, that was in widespread

commercial use for the last eight years, is and always was a

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Case 1:20-cv-10832-AT-SN   Document 576-6   Filed 07/27/22   Page 29 of 49



29

          SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.

            (212) 805-0300

L7F5secC                       

regulated security.  And on that theory you destroy the value

of promising technology imposed with retrospective penalties on

my clients, on the individual defendants, and to cause massive

losses to the XRP holders whose interests it is ostensibly

seeking to protect.  It is a very unusual set of facts and it

is one that puts market perception and industry confusion about

XRP and other digital assets for the SEC's claims and the core

of our defenses in a unique way.  And in unique cases, in

highly unusual cases you do get, sometimes have depositions of

the senior agency decision makers and people who inserted

themselves into the process through which these unusual agency

actions happened.  And I am referring indirectly to the case

involving the Secretary of Commerce and the decision by Judge

Furman that I know your Honor is familiar with.  And we have a

very legitimate basis to ask Mr. Hinman, specifically and

personally, about what he learned by acting as the focal point

of communications about industry perceptions and market

confusion as to whether digital assets were securities.  He was

responsible for speaking directly to the industry, to providing

public guidance whether it was phrased as his own views or

whether it was later adopted by the agency, and for attempting

to clarify the SEC's position on an extremely confusing issue

of law, issues of law and issues of facts.  We think that the

guidance that he gave in that speech that was either intended

or understood, or both, protects our case in a number of ways.
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Under those circumstances it is reasonable and proportionate

for us to seek his deposition and we respectfully submit that

it would prejudice our defense if we are completely denied the

opportunity to do so as the SEC is attempting to do.

On that basis, I would ask that the motion be denied. 

THE COURT:  Thank you.

Do any of the counsel for the individual defendants

wish to be heard?

MR. FLUMENBAUM:  Your Honor, this is Mr. Flumenbaum

for Mr. Larsen.

I agree with what Mr. Rapawy has stated.  I want to 

point out the obvious inconsistency, the SEC's argument before 

you where they started out by saying that the speech reflects 

his own personal views.  And the SEC's position is that it 

still hasn't determined whether Either and BitCoin are 

securities or currencies.  Under those circumstances, 

deposition is a must.  We must be able to ask him about what he 

stated, his other public remarks, and we will have to deal with 

the SEC's improper use of deliberative process to try to shield 

that but that should be done on a full record after his 

deposition.  They are clearly taking an improper position with 

respect to deliberative process.  They won't be able to make 

out the basis for asserting that privilege. 

THE COURT:  Thank you.

Ms. Stewart, can I ask one practical question?  My
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understanding is the deposition is noticed for Monday.  If I am

to authorize the deposition, is it still going forward on

Monday?

MR. FLUMENBAUM:  Yes.

MS. STEWART:  Your Honor, we would need time to

evaluate sort of our next steps in the event that your Honor

chooses to allow the deposition to go forward but, yes, the

parties had agreed on Monday as the sort of place holder date

for the deposition.

THE COURT:  OK.  Thank you.

MR. FLUMENBAUM:  The defendants are prepared to take

his deposition on Monday.  We have already adjourned it -- the

original date -- in June.

THE COURT:  Is that Mr. Flumenbaum speaking?

MR. FLUMENBAUM:  Yes.  I'm sorry.

And so, we had originally adjourned it after the SEC 

indicated that it was going to make the motion before your 

Honor but we do have a cutoff at the end of the month and it is 

very important to get this deposition in as promptly as 

possible. 

MS. STEWART:  Your Honor, can I make a couple of

additional points?  This is Ladan Stewart.

THE COURT:  Yes.

MS. STEWART:  If that's OK?

THE COURT:  Please.
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MS. STEWART:  I just wanted to respond to a couple of

the responses that Mr. Rapawy makes.

First off, it has become clear both from his comments

and Mr. Flumenbaum's comments that what defendants are really

after here are to depose Mr. Hinman twice.  They want to depose

him, they want us to sit for hours and go through questioning

on the record and object to basically every question they ask

about the speech, about his personal opinions about Ether,

about his communications with agency officials and all of that.

Then they want to bring that record to your Honor and then, if

they succeed, they want to depose him again.  And I submit to

your Honor that that sort of litigation strategy is not an

exceptional circumstance under Lederman and that the more

appropriate avenue here would be to litigate these privilege

issues, as defendants have already told your Honor they intend

to do, which they can do on the basis of the privilege log that

we have already provided and are continuing to provide this

week and next week, and then we can litigate that issue before

your Honor and if your Honor decides that there are not

appropriate assertions of privilege, then Director Hinman could

sit for a deposition.  But to do that now, with this issue

outstanding, with the motion to strike outstanding which is

really the core of their wanting to depose Mr. Hinman is this

fair notice defense which your Honor has already ruled is

objective.  So, it is hard to understand what a market
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participants thought about Ether or BitCoin could be relevant

to Ripple's fair notice defense.  But, putting that relevance

issue aside, with all of these outstanding issues, it is just

difficult to understand why we need to expose Director Hinman

to this deposition right now.  The discovery window does not

end until the end of August, there is an additional 90-day

discovery window for the individual defendants' case.  There is

just simply no reason that this decision needs to be made right

now on this record.

The other point that I wanted to make was, just so we

are clear --

THE COURT:  Can I just interrupt you?  Sorry,

Ms. Stewart, just to interrupt for one moment?  

You raised the Nacchio case, which is a 12-year-old 

case, 11-year-old case, and we scrambled to find it.  It looks 

like, based on Mr. Rapawy's quick read, based on my quick read, 

based on my law clerk's quick read in the middle of a court 

conference that in that case, which you thought was persuasive, 

that deposition happened and then there was judicial ruling on 

the privilege assertion.  So, are you suggesting that Nacchio 

is not a kind of precedent that you want me to look to as 

guidance for how to handle this dispute? 

MS. STEWART:  No, your Honor.  Nacchio involved a more

junior SEC official so Lederman was not an issue as far as I

understand in that case.  It was not the kind of case where
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there was dispute about whether it was appropriate under Morgan

and Lederman to depose that individual so that case is really

about deliberative process privilege and not about the larger

issue of whether a high-level official of the SEC should be

deposed and that was the proposition for which we were using it

today.

THE COURT:  Continue.

MS. STEWART:  Thank you.  This is Ladan Stewart again.  

I just wanted to make a couple of other quick points 

about the third-party communications that Mr. Rapawy spent a 

lot of time talking about.  You know, as your Honor pointed 

out, there are other ways to get this information and, in fact, 

defendants already have this information.  We have produced 

documents, we have produced calendar entries, we will continue 

to produce any relevant documents.  We have provided 

interrogatory responses with this information.  There just is 

no basis for defendant to say that we think there are 

conversation that we don't know about because they have the 

documents.  And, as I mentioned, it is also the case that these 

communications that they're having that -- I'm sorry -- that 

these types of third-party communications can't go to the 

objective test that your Honor has already talked about for the 

fair notice defense. 

And one thing that I just wanted to point out that I

thought was interesting as I was going back through the
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transcript of our April 6 conference was your Honor asked a

question in that conference about if the SEC has made this

public announcement through this speech by Director Hinman

about Ether, then why is it that conversations that Director

Hinman or anyone at the SEC may be having with third-party

folks after that is even relevant.

Your Honor said:  So, my question to you is after the 

public announcement in whatever fashion and in whatever opaque 

way was made, after that announcement, why would it matter what 

they were saying about those assets if the market now had that 

information and would act accordingly?  This is on page 30 of 

the transcript.  And Mr. Kellogg responded that the reason that 

this was relevant was because there may have been conversations 

about XRP and that's why this mattered even after the Ether 

speech.  Now, here, Director Hinman has already said in his 

declaration that he had no conversations with market 

participants about XRP.  So, it sort of goes to show that there 

really is nothing here.  There is nothing here that is relevant 

and in light of that it just cannot be that under the 

circumstances, in light of the chilling effects and all of the 

issues that we have talked about, that this can possibly rise 

to the exceptional circumstances that's required under Morgan 

and Lederman. 

I am happy to answer any more questions but there is

nothing else at this time.
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MR. FLUMENBAUM:  Your Honor, this Mr. Flumenbaum.

I would just like to make one comment.  We don't 

intend on asking questions in which the deliberative process 

privilege should properly be applied.  There are hours of 

depositions from Mr. Hinman based on specific public statements 

that he made and specific meetings that he made.  As Mr. Rapawy 

said, he met with the principles of Ether one week before his 

speech.  That is not deliberative process what was said during 

those meetings.  And he should answer that question.  What was 

he told about Ether?  What was he told about centralization?  

Those are proper questions that could be asked of him and what 

the SEC is trying do is prevent any discussion of any of the 

background, any of his understanding at the time that he made 

his statements and the meaning of those statements.  And that's 

just inappropriate.  There is plenty to depose him on, I am 

sure they'll invoke the deliberative process where they think 

it is appropriate and I hope they do it only where it is 

appropriate but, if they don't, we will come back and challenge 

that but there is no basis to prevent his deposition on that 

basis at all. 

MS. STEWART:  Your Honor, this Ladan Stewart.  If I

may for just one moment?  I'm sorry.  One moment.  I apologize,

your Honor, this is Ladan Stewart again.

What Mr. Flumenbaum says goes directly to the point I

was trying to make earlier which is that the conversations that
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Director Hinman is having with third-parties, they already know

who the third-parties are and they can ask those third-parties.

There is no reason to depose Director Hinman to ask those

questions.  And, again, I want to emphasize, anything to do

with the speech in terms of the intent of the speech, the

reasons Director Hinman gave the speech, discussions he had

about the speech, those, we contend, are all covered by the

deliberative process privilege.  So, if this deposition does go

forward, we will instruct Director Hinman not to answer those

questions.  So, I don't think that Mr. Flumenbaum is going to

get the information that he now says he is going to get about

the speech.  Again, the speech is the speech.  Anything beyond

that is privileged.

Thank you, your Honor.

MR. RAPAWY:  Your Honor, this is Gregory Rapawy.  May

I very briefly?  I know there has been a lot of colloquy.  We

do object --

THE COURT:  Briefly.

MR. RAPAWY:  Briefly.  

We do object to pushing the speech out in time.  There 

is an August 31st deadline. 

THE COURT:  You mean the deposition?

MR. RAPAWY:  Yes.  Excuse me.  I do mean the

deposition.  Too much talking about the speech.

We want to be able to do follow-up after the 
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deposition and we really also feel that our client would be 

prejudiced if discovery was extended again; it has already been 

extended once over our deposition.  I do think it should be 

possible to avoid two depositions here if the privilege 

objections are limited to reasonable scope.  We certainly don't 

intend to provoke two depositions.  We may get two if there are 

blanket objections but we hope to avoid that. 

That's all I have.

THE COURT:  OK.

MR. SOLOMON:  Your Honor, I'm sorry.  It is Matthew

Solomon for Mr. Garlinghouse.  I had one point that I would

like to make, if I may, and I will be very brief.

THE COURT:  Go ahead.

MR. SOLOMON:  I wasn't going to make this point the

first time Ms. Stewart said it but she has now said it twice to

you, that the individual defendants have an additional 120-day

discovery period.  After the motions to dismiss are decided we

don't think we will need it because we think they will be

granted but that is neither here nor there are in terms of

instant discovery period.  In fact, the SEC only agreed to that

additional discovery period if we could not rely on it to avoid

discovery on issues that are relevant now.  That's why my

client and Mr. Larsen will be sitting for depositions during

this discovery period.

So, the notion that we are somehow pulling a fast one 
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and trying to push discovery now when we have the second bite 

at the apple is based on a false premise.  The entire reason we 

got that discovery was only because the SEC said we couldn't 

delay anything, nor should they now be able to delay taking a 

deposition that is clearly relevant -- I think we established 

today -- of former Director Hinman to avoid discovery on these 

issues. 

Thank you, your Honor.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

Thank you, all, for your excellent argument, as

always.  I think the issues remain complicated.  I am going to

rule in part.  For the purposes of this dispute I am prepared

to find that Mr. Hinman was a high-ranking official.  He held

the head of one of the SEC's significant -- one of six

divisions and commanded significant authority and held

substantial responsibility within a very important federal

agency.  So, on the facts here I do believe that he is entitled

to the standard that is set forth in the Lederman case, 731

F.3d 199.  I recognize that he is a former official and under

the Moriah case that is certainly a factor that I considered in

thinking about how to rule here.

This is not a run-of-the-mill SEC enforcement case.

As Mr. Rapawy noted when he was speaking on this particular

issue, this case is I think separate and part from the standard

cases that the SEC brings and I do not believe that authorizing
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Mr. Hinman's deposition is going to open the floodgates and

serve as a basis for any defendant in an SEC enforcement action

to seek the depositions of heads of divisions.  And I expressly

find that this case is unique, that the nature of the case

involves significant policy decisions in our markets and that

the amount in controversy also is substantial and that the

public's interest in resolution of this case is also quite

significant.  So, I think that this case is not a basis for

future cases and future judges to find that a deposition is

appropriate in all instances but I do think in this case

Mr. Hinman, given the speech, must sit for a deposition.  So, I

am going to authorize his deposition.

There is a separate question about this issue of

privilege and I am very much not disposed to allowing or

requiring, I should say, Mr. Hinman to sit twice.  And given

the issues that have been raised today, I think there are a

couple of ways we can go forward.  Defendants are keen to take

this deposition on Monday -- which is why we are holding this

conference today -- and have suggested that they believe that

there is significant territory to cover where they do not

believing the privilege will be invoked.  Ms. Stewart seems to

think otherwise and has suggested, not impermissibly, but has

suggested she is going to direct Mr. Hinman not to answer wide

swaths of questioning and assert the deliberative process

privilege.  It seems to me there are a couple of ways we can
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proceed here:  

First, we can go forward with the deposition on Monday 

and a record can be created and the parties can come back to me 

if they would like.  Everybody is on notice that I am very much 

disinclined right now, given what we are talking about, to 

require Mr. Hinman to sit twice.    

The second way we can proceed is to have the parties 

try and work out some sort of agreement between them about the 

scope of the deposition and if they can't reach agreement, to 

come back to me on specific questions -- I don't want specific 

deposition questions but specific areas of questioning and get 

a ruling from me on what areas would be protected and what 

areas would not.  I am sensitive to the defendant's interest in 

moving the case forward, I know that the SEC shared that 

interest as well.  It seems to me that putting the deposition 

off for a week and thinking a little bit more about how the 

privilege might apply probably is a good idea and I guess I say 

that with the hopes that the parties can have a conversation 

maybe tomorrow and let me know how they would like to proceed.  

But, I think that that makes the most sense. 

Ms. Stewart, any questions about my ruling?

MS. STEWART:  This is Ladan Stewart from the SEC.  

That makes good sense to us and we will certainly meet 

and confer and get back to the Court. 

THE COURT:  Mr. Rapawy?
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MR. RAPAWY:  Yes, your Honor.  Given the primaries

have you outlined, I agree.  I would like to consult with my

client certainly and it would be appropriate and convenient to

get back to the court.

THE COURT:  OK.  Terrific.  Here is what I am going to

do.  I am going to ask, given that this deposition may go

forward on Monday, that the parties meet and confer this

evening, tomorrow morning, and send me a letter by tomorrow

afternoon to let me know what the plan is.  You may choose to

go forward with the deposition on Monday or you may choose to

adjourn the deposition, I think for a brief period, and either

try to reach a resolution among the parties about what

questions would be permissible and what would be off limits, or

to bring that issue to me so that I can give some rulings with

parameters so that the parties know where I believe the

privilege would be appropriately invoked.

So, I will just wait to hear back from the parties 

tomorrow. 

MS. STEWART:  Thank you, your Honor.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Anything further, Ms. Stewart?

MS. STEWART:  Not from me.  Thank you.

THE COURT:  Mr. Rapawy, is there anything further?

MR. RAPAWY:  No, your Honor.  Thank you, your Honor.

THE COURT:  Yes.  Who was that?

MS. ZORNBERG:  Your Honor, this is Lisa Zornberg from
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Debevoise & Plimpton.  I didn't expect to be a speaker.  

If you would permit, given what was just discussed 

about the meet and confer, I feel compelled, on behalf of 

Ripple, to bring to the Court's attention that after two trips 

to the Court already and two rulings by the Court to get 

internal memoranda of the SEC, we have learned very recently -- 

and we have been meeting and conferring with the SEC on this 

already and have reached a dead end on it -- the SEC informed 

us last week -- the SEC has not produced a single internal 

memoranda to defendants claiming that all of the responsive 

documents that were ordered under the Court's orders are being 

withheld for deliberative process privilege.  I flag that for 

your Honor because we have been attempting, in the utmost good 

faith, to pierce the overbreadth of the deliberative process 

argument that the SEC has been advancing including counter  to 

well-established law that even if you withhold opinions for 

deliberative process you can't withhold fact.  The SEC 

confirmed again, at noon today, they are withholding every part 

of every responsive internal memoranda on deliberative process.  

They have produced not one and they don't plan to.   

I raise this to the Court because, as part of that 

ongoing meet and confer, we think the SEC's position is 

untenable, it's way overbroad.  We are preparing to take that 

very issue on deliberative process to your Honor because it is 

prejudicing Ripple and the individual defendants, this cloak of 
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deliberative process.  And it is quite consistent with 

Ms. Stewart's statement on this call, oh, if you depose 

Mr. Hinman, we are going to say everything is covered by 

deliberative process.   

So, I just want your Honor to be aware that there has 

been already multiple efforts by the defendants to bring the 

SEC to reason on this.  We will meet and confer with them again 

to seek reason on this but the issues are of apiece which is 

that the SEC, in a very blanket way, is throwing deliberative 

process over everything that they don't want to share without 

drawing any finer lines that that.  Hopefully, based on today's 

call, they'll come around to a different view but your Honor 

should not be surprised, if when we come back to the Court if 

the SEC remains as steadfast in this kind of blanket claim of 

deliberative process, then we will come back to the Court and 

will probably go beyond just the issue of Mr. Hinman's upcoming 

deposition. 

MS. STEWART:  Your Honor, this is Ladan Stewart.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

MS. STEWART:  If I may?  

I disagree with much of what Ms. Zornberg just said 

with the exception that I agree with her that the privilege 

issues here are beyond Director Hinman's deposition.  The 

parties are still in the process of exchanging privilege logs 

and have agreed to finalize that process by the end of next 
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week.  And Ripple and the other defendants have already told us 

and they have now made very clear to your Honor that intend to 

challenge those assertions.  So, it does make sense to do this 

all together as part of briefing before this Court.  We will of 

course try to meet and confer ahead of time but I agree with 

Ms. Zornberg that this issue goes beyond Director Hinman, and 

perhaps what does make sense is for us to meet and confer and, 

if we can't, to propose a briefing schedule to your Honor for 

these issues to get briefed expeditiously. 

THE COURT:  I do think it makes sense to address all

of this at once, I think that's most efficient thing, and I

think it will also give me the most information.  And so, I

would urge the parties to try to address both the privilege log

issues that Ms. Zornberg just raised, as well as the privilege

issues that we have been discussing with respect to Mr. Hinman,

and it may make sense to brief that in an expedited basis in

order to get a ruling from me before the deposition of

Mr. Hinman goes forward.  Again, I'm going to leave that to the

parties for meet and confer this evening and tomorrow morning

and we will just look for a letter tomorrow afternoon,

hopefully with an agreed upon plan going forward.

MR. FLUMENBAUM:  Your Honor, this is Mr. Martin

Flumenbaum.

The problem that I see with the procedure going 

forward is that, as I said, we can we can ask Mr. Hinman many 
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questions at his deposition on Monday about his communications 

with third-parties, both before his speech and after his 

speech.  If the SEC is going to claim that third-party 

conversations with Mr. Hinman are covered by deliberative 

process, then we are never going to be able to go forth on 

Monday.  So, maybe some guidance from your Honor -- I don't see 

how the deliberative process privilege can apply to third-party 

communications that Mr. Hinman had directly.  So, my view would 

be if the SEC is going to maintain that that's covered by 

deliberative process privilege, then your Honor should rule on 

that right now because I don't see how it can possibly be 

covered by the deliberate process privilege. 

THE COURT:  For the sake of the court reporter, that

was Mr. Flumenbaum.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Um --

THE COURT:  Hold on.  Sorry.  We are going to wrap up

this conference.

I am going to request that the parties meet and confer 

on this issue.  If Mr. Flumenbaum thinks that communications 

with third-parties are absolutely going to be fair game and he 

wants to go forward with the deposition because he thinks that 

there is no good faith privilege issue, you can put that in 

your letter to me tomorrow.  And if you intend to go forward 

with the deposition on Monday, I will do my very best to get 

you a ruling on that particular issue.   
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It seems to me that the questions you are really 

interested in have to do with this speech and those are the 

ones where I think the deliberative process question is much 

more complicated.  And so it may be easy for me to answer 

whether or not the fact that Mr. Hinman spoke with 

third-parties is or is not protected but this deposition is not 

about that and, in fact, if this deposition were just about 

those third-parties, I probably wouldn't authorize it because 

it probably would not fall within the exceptional circumstances 

category.  What in my mind is exceptional, and why I am 

authorizing the deposition in the first place, is because of 

the nature and effect of the 2018 speech.  That is what makes 

this deposition exceptional and that is why I am authorizing 

it.  And so, it seems to me to press forward, because you are 

eager to hear who he spoke with, you may cut off your nose to 

spite your face. 

MR. FLUMENBAUM:  Well, I think third-party

conversations would be relevant to the speech itself.  For

example, his meetings with the head of Ether a week before his

speech I think would have great relevance to his speech.  So, I

look at it as part of this making the speech and reaching the

conclusions he did.

THE COURT:  Understood.

OK.  So I will hear from the parties tomorrow

afternoon.
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MS. STEWART:  Thank you, your Honor.

THE COURT:  Thank you, everybody.

MR. RAPAWY:  Thank you, your Honor.

MR. FLUMENBAUM:  Thank you.

o0o  
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June 21, 2021 

VIA E-MAIL 
 
Lisa Zornberg, Esq. 
Debevoise & Plimpton LLP 
919 Third Avenue 
New York, NY 10022 
 
Matthew Solomon, Esq.   
Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP 
2112 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC 20037 
 
Martin Flumenbaum, Esq.   
Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison LLP 
1285 Avenue of the Americas 
New York, NY 10019 
 
Re: SEC v. Ripple Labs, Inc., et al., 20-cv-10832 (AT) (S.D.N.Y.) 
 
Dear Counsel: 
 
On behalf of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), we are producing the following 
documents pursuant to the Court’s April 6 and May 6, 2021 orders and our agreements:  (1) requests 
to the SEC’s Office of Investment Education and Advocacy, Bates numbered 
NYRO_RIPPLE_IRIS_000001 – 000249 (designated as Confidential pursuant to the Protective 
Order); (2) responsive, non-privileged communications of SEC personnel, bearing Bates numbers 
SEC-LIT-EMAILS-000338717 – 000342554 (designated as Confidential pursuant to the Protective 
Order) and SEC-LIT-EMAILS-000342555 – 000343362 (designated as Highly Confidential 
pursuant to the Protective Order); and (3) a privilege log dated June 21, 2021 (designated as 
Confidential pursuant to the Protective Order); as discussed, we expect to produce additional 
privilege logs on a rolling basis.  
 
We have included on the June 21, 2021 privilege log (and may include on future privilege logs) email 
communications attaching drafts of the 2018 speech by the then-director of the Division of 
Corporation Finance, Bill Hinman.  We do not believe these or other drafts are “intra-agency 
memoranda or formal position papers” (D.E. 163) that must be produced or logged pursuant to the 
Court’s April 6 or May 6 orders.  However, in light of your stated desire to discover facts regarding 
internal review of Director Hinman’s speech prior to its delivery (e.g., June 11, 2021 Letter from R. 
Figel at 4), we are providing to you on this log non-privileged information about individuals at the 
SEC who received drafts of the speech based on communications we have reviewed to date in 
conducting our search for intra-agency memoranda or formal position papers.  We reserve our right 
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Lisa Zornberg, Esq. 
Matthew Solomon, Esq. 
Martin Flumenbaum, Esq. 
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to argue that these and other drafts of intra-agency memoranda or formal position papers need not 
be produced or logged pursuant to the Court’s orders.  
 

Sincerely, 
 
/s Ladan F. Stewart 
 
Ladan F. Stewart 
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